Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: July 28, 2022 ACCEPTED: August 7, 2022 PUBLISHED: September 2, 2022

The Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution from scattering amplitudes of charged scalars

Simone D'Onofrio,^a Federica Fragomeno,^b Claudio Gambino^a and Fabio Riccioni^c

^aDipartimento di Fisica, Università di Roma "La Sapienza", Piazzale Aldo Moro 2. 00185 Roma, Italy

- 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada
- ^cI.N.F.N. Sezione di Roma, Dipartimento di Fisica, Università di Roma "La Sapienza", Piazzale Aldo Moro 2, 00185 Roma, Italy E-mail: donofrio.1749089@studenti.uniroma1.it, fedefrag@yorku.ca,
- gambino.1793203@studenti.uniroma1.it, Fabio.Riccioni@roma1.infn.it

ABSTRACT: The metric and the electromagnetic potential generated by a static, spherically symmetric charged massive object in any dimension are given by the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution. We derive the expansion of this solution up to third post-Minkowskian order by computing the classical contribution of scattering amplitudes describing the emission of either a graviton or a photon from a massive charged scalar field up to two loops. In four and five dimensions these amplitudes develop ultraviolet divergences that are cancelled by higher-derivative counterterms in a way that generalises what was recently shown to happen in the chargeless case. This renormalisation procedure produces logarithmic terms that match exactly those produced in the post-Minkowskian expansion of the classical solution in de Donder gauge.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes, Scattering Amplitudes, Effective Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2207.05841



^bDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, York University,

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge	3
3	Classical limit from scattering amplitudes	8
4	Metric from scattering amplitudes	13
5	Electromagnetic potential from scattering amplitudes	20
6	Divergences and higher-derivative couplings	26
	6.1 Non-minimal couplings	27
	6.2 Renormalisation	30
7	Discussion	32
A	Feynman rules	34
в	Master integrals	38
С	Loop integral reduction	39

1 Introduction

We universally think of general relativity as the low energy effective field theory of a quantum theory of gravity. More precisely, we think of the Einstein-Hilbert action as the first term of a higher-derivative expansion where infinitely many operators are suppressed at low energy by inverse powers of the Planck mass. Gravitational interactions are mediated by the exchange of spin-2 gravitons, and performing a perturbative expansion in \hbar one determines graviton vertices as well as vertices of gravitons interacting with matter [1–5]. Using the tools of effective field theory, one can then for instance compute quantum scattering amplitudes involving massive particles and determine \hbar corrections to the gravitational potential [6, 7].

The most remarkable outcome of this analysis is that by performing a loop expansion one obtains at any loop order not only quantum corrections, but also terms that are zeroth order in \hbar , i.e. entirely classical [7–14]. In particular, while the Schwarzschild metric at first order in the post-Minkowskian expansion arises from the scattering amplitude of a massive scalar emitting a graviton at tree level, the analysis of [9] shows that the next order arises from a 1-loop amplitude containing a three-graviton vertex. Similarly, one reproduces at second post-Minkowskian order the Kerr metric by computing loop amplitudes involving spinors [9], as well as the terms proportional to the electric charge of the Reissner-Nordström and Kerr-Newman metrics by considering the 1-loop scattering of charged particles with photons running in the loop [15].

More recently, a systematic procedure to extract the classical contribution of loop amplitudes of massive scalars interacting with gravitons in any dimension was given in [12], which also shows how such computations coincide with the original work of [16] at second post-Minkowskian order. Applying these techniques, the Schwarzschild-Tangherlini metric [17] at fourth order in the post-Minkowskian expansion was shown to arise from gravitational scattering amplitudes of massive scalars up to three loops [18].¹ The computations of the amplitudes in [18] are performed in de Donder gauge, and in order to compare the results with the classical metric one has to write down the latter in the same gauge, in which logarithmic terms appear in the post-Minkowskian expansion starting from second order in five dimensions and from third order in four dimensions. Correspondingly, the amplitudes develop ultraviolet divergences [18, 20] which are renormalised by the inclusion of specific higher-derivative couplings [18],² and as a result one obtains the remormalised energy-momentum tensor which gives exactly the logarithmic terms of the Schwarzschild-Tangherlini metric in de Donder gauge.³

In this paper we want to repeat the analysis of [18] for the case of charged scalars in any dimension. We will show that the long-distance metric derived from the amplitude computation matches the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini metric [17]. We will make use of the prescription of [12] to isolate the classical contribution from each Feynman diagram. We will perform the analysis up to two loops, and we will show that the terms of the metric proportional to the electric charge are exactly reproduced up to third post-Minkowskian order by the diagrams in which photons circulate in the loop. In de Donder gauge there are also logarithmic terms proportional to the charge, and these are exactly reproduced by renormalising the divergent terms in the amplitude adding higher-derivative couplings. Remarkably, these couplings are precisely the same as in the chargeless case, but the coefficient in front of them is modified by the addition of a term proportional to a given power of the charge.

The techniques to extract the classical contribution of loop amplitudes can also be applied to diagrams in which the scalar field emits a photon. We compute such contributions up to two loops, and we derive from the resulting current the first three terms in the post-Minkowskian expansion of the electromagnetic potential. We compare the result with the post-Minkowskian expansion of the potential in the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution, finding again perfect agreement. In five dimensions the amplitudes develop an ultraviolet divergence, which is renormalised by the same counterterm that renormalises the metric. We compute the logarithmic terms that arise and we show that again they match exactly the logarithms in the post-Minkowskian expansion of the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini potential.

¹At tree-level and one loop the agreement between the Schwarzschild-Tangherlini metric and the amplitude results in any dimension was earlier shown in [19, 20].

^{2}Higher-derivative couplings had already been introduced in [21] in the context of the world-line formalism.

³There are additional renormalised terms in the energy-momentum tensor that do not affect the metric [18]. We will not discuss this any further in this paper.

The paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we determine the post-Minkowskian expansion of the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge. In section 3 we show how to relate the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric and the gauge potential to the loop expansion of the amplitude for the emission of either a graviton or a photon from a massive charged scalar. We use these results to compute in section 4 and section 5 the metric and the gauge potential respectively from scattering amplitudes up to two loops. In section 6 we discuss how non-minimal couplings are included to cancel the ultraviolet divergences, producing logarithmic terms in the metric. The final outcome is that also the terms containing the electric charge in the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric in de Donder gauge, as well as the electromagnetic potential, are exactly reproduced by scattering amplitude computations. Finally, section 7 contains a discussion and our conclusions. The paper also contains three appendices. In appendix A we give all the expressions for the propagators and vertices that are used in the paper. In appendix \mathbf{B} we derive for completeness the Fourier transforms that are used to determine the metric and the potential from the amplitudes given in momentum space. Finally in appendix C we list all the results for the loop integrals that are needed to evaluate all the amplitudes in sections 4 and 5.

2 The Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge

The Reissner-Nordström solution gives the metric and the electromagnetic potential of a spherically symmetric charged mass distribution in four dimensions. Its generalisation to arbitrary dimension D = d + 1 was given by Tangherlini in [17], and the resulting metric has the expression

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{m}}{r^{d-2}} + \frac{\mu_{Q}}{r^{2(d-2)}}\right) dt^{2} - \frac{dr^{2}}{1 - \frac{\mu_{m}}{r^{d-2}} + \frac{\mu_{Q}}{r^{2(d-2)}}} - r^{2} d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where μ_m and μ_Q are related to the mass m and charge Q of the black hole by

$$\mu_m = \frac{16\pi G_N m}{(d-1)\Omega_{d-1}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_Q = \frac{8\pi G_N Q^2}{(d-2)(d-1)\Omega_{d-1}^2},$$
(2.2)

while the electromagnetic potential is

$$A_{\mu}(r) = \delta^{0}_{\mu} \frac{1}{(d-2)\Omega_{d-1}} \frac{Q}{r^{d-2}}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where $\Omega_{d-1} = \frac{2\pi^{d/2}}{\Gamma(d/2)}$ is the area of the (d-1)-sphere.

In this section we want to perform the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric and the electromagnetic potential in de Donder gauge. As far as the metric is concerned, the analysis is the same as the one performed in [18] for the case of the Schwarzschild-Tangherlini solution, and we refer to that paper for further details. Given in general a metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = C(r)dt^{2} - \frac{dr^{2}}{C(r)} - r^{2}d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}, \qquad (2.4)$$

its expression in cartesian coordinates becomes

$$ds^{2} = C(r)dt^{2} - d\vec{x}^{2} - \frac{1 - C(r)}{C(r)} \frac{(\vec{x} \cdot d\vec{x})^{2}}{r^{2}}.$$
(2.5)

We want to determine the change of coordinates such that the transformed metric satisfies the de Donder gauge condition

$$\eta^{\mu\nu}(g_{\beta\nu,\mu} + g_{\mu\beta,\nu} - g_{\mu\nu,\beta}) = 0.$$
(2.6)

Given that the metric in (2.5) only depends on r, we look for transformations that rescale the spatial coordinates by an r-dependent (positive) function, namely

$$(t, \vec{x}) \to (t, f(r)\vec{x}) \quad \text{with} \quad r = \sqrt{x^i x^i} \,.$$
 (2.7)

The metric in the new coordinates becomes

$$ds^{2} = h_{0}(r)dt^{2} - h_{1}(r)d\vec{x}^{2} - h_{2}(r)\frac{(\vec{x}\cdot d\vec{x})^{2}}{r^{2}}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where $h_0(r)$, $h_1(r)$ and $h_2(r)$ are determined in terms of C(r) and f(r) as

$$h_0(r) = C(f(r)r)$$

$$h_1(r) = f(r)^2$$

$$h_2(r) = -f(r)^2 + \frac{(f(r) + rf'(r))^2}{C(f(r)r)}.$$
(2.9)

The de Donder condition (2.6) then leads to the equation

$$r\frac{d}{dr}\left(h_0(r) + (d-2)h_1(r) - h_2(r)\right) = 2(d-1)h_2(r), \qquad (2.10)$$

that substituting the relations in (2.9) becomes a differential equation for f(r) [18].

We want to write down the metric (2.1) in de Donder gauge, which means that we want to solve eq. (2.10) for

$$C(r) = 1 - \frac{\mu_m}{r^{d-2}} + \frac{\mu_Q}{r^{2(d-2)}}.$$
(2.11)

Following [18], we define

$$\rho(r) = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2} - 1\right)\pi^{1 - d/2}}{r^{d - 2}}, \qquad (2.12)$$

so than substituting eq. (2.11) in (2.9), one gets

$$h_0(r) = 1 - 4mG_N \frac{d-2}{d-1} \frac{\rho(r)}{f(r)^{d-2}} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2m} \frac{\rho(r)}{f(r)^{d-2}}\right)$$

$$h_1(r) = f(r)^2$$

$$h_2(r) = -f(r)^2 + \frac{\left(f(r) + (2-d)\rho(r)\frac{df(r)}{d\rho}\right)^2}{1 - 4mG_N \frac{d-2}{d-1} \frac{\rho(r)}{f(r)^{d-2}} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2m} \frac{\rho(r)}{f(r)^{d-2}}\right)},$$
(2.13)

where we have introduced for convenience the fine structure constant $\alpha = \frac{Q^2}{4\pi}$ in natural units. We plug these expressions into eq. (2.10), which we rewrite as an equation dependent on the variable ρ [18],

$$(2-d)\rho \frac{d}{d\rho} \Big(h_0(r) + (d-2)h_1(r) - h_2(r) \Big) = 2(d-1)h_2(r) , \qquad (2.14)$$

and we want to solve this equation perturbatively for f(r) as a power expansion in ρ ,

$$f(r) = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \rho(r)^n , \qquad (2.15)$$

that is order by order in the post-Minkowskian expansion.⁴ We have done this numerically and although we have managed to determine all the coefficients of the metric up to eighth order in the post-Minkowskian expansion, here we give the expression for f(r), and therefore for $h_0(r)$, $h_1(r)$ and $h_2(r)$, up to ρ^3 , which is the order needed for comparison with the 2-loop calculation in the next sections. The result is

$$f(r) = 1 + \frac{2mG_N}{d-1}\rho(r) - \frac{\alpha G_N \left(d^2 - 4d + 3\right) + 4 \left(d^2 - 4d + 5\right) m^2 G_N^2}{(d-4)(d-1)^2}\rho(r)^2 + \frac{2mG_N}{3(d-1)^3 \left(d^2 - 7d + 12\right)} \left(\alpha G_N \left(6d^4 - 53d^3 + 167d^2 - 223d + 103\right) + 2 \left(7d^4 - 57d^3 + 172d^2 - 232d + 122\right) m^2 G_N^2 \right)\rho(r)^3 + O\left(\rho(r)^4\right).$$

$$(2.16)$$

Plugging this into (2.13) and expanding up to order ρ^3 one finally obtains

$$\begin{split} h_{0}(r) &= 1 - \frac{4(d-2)}{d-1} mG_{N}\rho + \left(\frac{2(d-2)}{d-1}\alpha G_{N} + \frac{8(d-2)^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}}m^{2}G_{N}^{2}\right)\rho^{2} \\ &+ \left(-\frac{4(d-2)^{2}(3d-11)}{(d-4)(d-1)^{2}}m\alpha G_{N}^{2} + \frac{8(7-3d)(d-2)^{3}}{(d-4)(d-1)^{3}}m^{3}G_{N}^{3}\right)\rho^{3} + O(\rho^{4}) \\ h_{1}(r) &= 1 + \frac{4}{d-1}mG_{N}\rho + \left(-\frac{2(d-3)}{(d-4)(d-1)}\alpha G_{N} + \frac{4(-2d^{2}+9d-14)}{(d-4)(d-1)^{2}}m^{2}G_{N}^{2}\right)\rho^{2} \\ &+ \left(\frac{8(3d^{3}-25d^{2}+69d-65)}{3(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^{2}}m\alpha G_{N}^{2} + \frac{8(7d^{4}-63d^{3}+214d^{2}-334d+212)}{3(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^{3}}m^{3}G_{N}^{3}\right)\rho^{3} \\ &+ O(\rho^{4}) \\ h_{2}(r) &= \left(\frac{2(d-2)^{2}}{(d-4)(d-1)}\alpha G_{N} + \frac{4(d-2)^{2}(3d-2)}{(d-4)(d-1)^{2}}m^{2}G_{N}^{2}\right)\rho^{2} \\ &+ \left(\frac{4(d-2)^{2}(-3d^{3}+19d^{2}-33d+17)}{(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^{3}}m\alpha G_{N}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{8(d-2)^{2}(-2d^{3}+13d^{2}-25d+10)}{(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^{3}}m^{3}G_{N}^{3}\right)\rho^{3} + O(\rho^{4}). \end{split}$$

$$(2.17)$$

⁴In this paper we define the post-Minkowskian expansion as an expansion in $\rho(r)$, which due to the presence of the charge does not coincide with an expansion in G_N .

As it is obvious on dimensional grounds, for each power n of ρ there are terms proportional to $(mG_N)^{n-j}(\alpha G_N)^{\frac{j}{2}}$ for each non-negative and even j such that n-j is non-negative.

The metric obtained using this procedure is not well defined in four and five dimensions, that is when d = 3 and d = 4, in which eqs. (2.17) are singular [18]. This means that the ansatz in eq. (2.15) has to be changed. Proceeding perturbatively, every time there is a divergent coefficient we have to add to the term at that order all the terms with a power of logarithm permitted by the order of the polynomial. Every new term comes with a new coefficient in the expansion. The outcome is that by implementing this new ansatz in eq. (2.14) all the coefficients will be fixed apart from the first divergent one. In the case d = 3 the first divergent coefficient is at the third power of ρ , so the new ansatz for f(r) is

$$f(r)_{d=3} = 1 + a_1\rho + a_2\rho^2 + (a_{3,2}\log(\rho)^2 + a_{3,1}\log(\rho) + a_3)\rho^3 + O(\rho^4).$$
(2.18)

Plugging this into eq. (2.14) one solves for all the coefficients up to a constant. The result is

$$f(r)_{d=3} = 1 + mG_N\rho + 2m^2G_N^2\rho^2 + \frac{2}{3}mG_N\left(2\alpha G_N\log\left(\frac{2mG_N\rho}{c}\right) -m^2G_N^2\log\left(\frac{2mG_N\rho}{c}\right)\right)\rho^3 + O\left(\rho^4\right),$$
(2.19)

which shows that $a_{3,2}$ in (2.18) vanishes, while a_3 is not determined. We have placed the undetermined constant inside the logarithm for convenience. The other constants in the argument of the logarithm have been inserted for dimensional reasons.

Using (2.13) with d = 3, the resulting metric is

$$h_{0}(r)_{d=3} = 1 - \frac{2mG_{N}}{r} + \left(\alpha G_{N} + 2m^{2}G_{N}^{2}\right)\frac{1}{r^{2}} + \left(-2m\alpha G_{N}^{2} + 2m^{3}G_{N}^{3}\right)\frac{1}{r^{3}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{4}}\right)$$

$$h_{1}(r)_{d=3} = 1 + \frac{2mG_{N}}{r} + \frac{5m^{2}G_{N}^{2}}{r^{2}} + \left(\frac{8}{3}m\alpha G_{N}^{2}\log\left(\frac{2mG_{N}}{cr}\right) + \frac{4}{3}m^{3}G_{N}^{3}\left(3 - \log\left(\frac{2mG_{N}}{cr}\right)\right)\right)\frac{1}{r^{3}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{4}}\right)$$

$$h_{2}(r)_{d=3} = \left(-\alpha G_{N} - 7m^{2}G_{N}^{2}\right)\frac{1}{r^{2}} + \left(\frac{2}{3}m\alpha G_{N}^{2}\left(-12\log\left(\frac{2mG_{N}}{cr}\right) - 7\right)\right) + \frac{2}{3}m^{3}G_{N}^{3}\left(6\log\left(\frac{2mG_{N}}{cr}\right) - 19\right)\right)\frac{1}{r^{3}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{4}}\right).$$
(2.20)

In the case d = 4 we have a divergence already at second order in ρ , and the ansatz for f is

$$f(r)_{d=4} = 1 + a_1\rho + (a_{2,1}\log(\rho) + a_2)\rho^2 + (a_{3,2}\log(\rho)^2 + a_{3,1}\log(\rho) + a_3)\rho^3 + O(\rho^4).$$
(2.21)

Again, solving for f gives

$$f(r)_{d=4} = 1 + \frac{2}{3}mG_N\rho + \frac{1}{18}G_N\left(-20\log\left(\frac{8mG_N\rho}{3c}\right)G_Nm^2 - 3\alpha\log\left(\frac{8mG_N\rho}{3c}\right)\right)\rho^2 + \frac{1}{81}mG_N^2\left(180\log\left(\frac{8mG_N\rho}{3c}\right)G_Nm^2 + 32G_Nm^2 + 66\alpha + 27\alpha\log\left(\frac{8mG_N\rho}{3c}\right)\right)\rho^3 + O\left(\rho^4\right),$$
(2.22)

and plugging the result in eq. (2.13) one gets

$$h_{0}(r)_{d=4} = 1 - \frac{8mG_{N}}{3\pi r^{2}} + \left(\frac{4\alpha G_{N}}{3\pi^{2}} + \frac{32m^{2}G_{N}^{2}}{9\pi^{2}}\right) \frac{1}{r^{4}} + \left(-\frac{8m\alpha G_{N}^{2}}{9\pi^{3}} \left(\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) + 4\right) + \frac{32m^{3}G_{N}^{3}}{27\pi^{3}} \left(-5\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) - 3\right)\right) \frac{1}{r^{6}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{8}}\right)$$

$$h_{1}(r)_{d=4} = 1 + \frac{4mG_{N}}{3\pi r^{2}} + \left(-\frac{\alpha G_{N}}{3\pi^{2}} \log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) + \frac{4m^{2}G_{N}^{2}}{9\pi^{2}} \left(1 - 5\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right)\right)\right) \frac{1}{r^{4}} + \left(\frac{4m\alpha G_{N}^{2}}{27\pi^{3}} \left(3\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) + 11\right) + \frac{16m^{3}G_{N}^{3}}{81\pi^{3}} \left(15\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) + 4\right)\right) \frac{1}{r^{6}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{8}}\right)$$

$$h_{2}(r)_{d=4} = \left(\frac{2\alpha G_{N}}{3\pi^{2}} \left(2\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) - 1\right) + \frac{40m^{2}G_{N}^{2}}{9\pi^{2}} \left(2\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) + 1\right)\right) \frac{1}{r^{4}} + \left(-\frac{8m\alpha G_{N}^{2}}{9\pi^{3}} \left(\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) + 13\right) + \frac{32m^{3}G_{N}^{3}}{27\pi^{3}} \left(-5\log\left(\frac{8mG_{N}}{3c\pi r^{2}}\right) - 4\right)\right) \frac{1}{r^{6}} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^{8}}\right) .$$

$$(2.23)$$

Having determined the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric in de Donder gauge, we now proceed to compute the same expansion for the potential. We thus have to perform the coordinate transformation (2.7) on the potential in eq. (2.3). The potential satisfies the Lorentz gauge condition, and in particular only its time component is non-vanishing and only depends on r. This implies that the only effect of the change of coordinates is to rescale r, so that the potential in de Donder gauge becomes

$$A_0^{\rm dD}(r) = \frac{1}{(d-2)\Omega_{d-1}} \frac{Q}{(f(r)r)^{d-2}} \,. \tag{2.24}$$

Plugging eq. (2.16) into this equation and expanding up to cubic order in ρ one gets

$$A_0^{\rm dD}(r) = \frac{Q}{4\pi} \left(\rho - \frac{2(d-2)}{(d-1)} m G_N \rho^2 + \left(\frac{2(d-2)^2 (3d-7)}{(d-4)(d-1)^2} m^2 G_N^2 + \frac{(d-3)(d-2)}{(d-4)(d-1)} \alpha G_N \right) \rho^3 \right) + O(\rho^4) \,.$$
(2.25)

The electromagnetic potential in this gauge is not well defined at third post-Minkowskian order in five dimensions (i.e. d = 4) because of the divergence in eq. (2.25) which is inherited from the divergence of f(r). Plugging in (2.24) the function $f(r)_{d=4}$ in eq. (2.22) one gets

$$A_0^{\rm dD}(r)_{d=4} = \frac{Q}{4\pi} \left(\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{r^2} - \frac{4}{3\pi^2} G_N m \frac{1}{r^4} + \left(\frac{4G_N^2 m^2}{9\pi^3} \left(5\log\left(\frac{8G_N m}{3\pi cr^2}\right) + 3 \right) + \frac{\alpha G_N}{3\pi^3} \log\left(\frac{8G_N m}{3\pi cr^2}\right) \right) \frac{1}{r^6} + O\left(\frac{1}{r^8}\right).$$
(2.26)

In the rest of the paper we will show how all the expressions we have derived in this section for the metric and the eletromagnetic potential of the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge up to third post-Minkwskian order can be obtained from amplitude computations up to two loops.

3 Classical limit from scattering amplitudes

In this section we will review the procedure discussed in [12, 18] to extract classical contributions from loop amplitudes. The procedure will be applied to amplitudes describing the emission of either a graviton or a photon, with gravitons and photons circulating in the loop. In order to set up the conventions, we first write down the classical action

$$S = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{2}{\kappa^2} R - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\alpha\beta} g^{\mu\alpha} g^{\nu\beta} + (D_{\mu}\phi)^* (D_{\nu}\phi) g^{\mu\nu} - m^2 \phi^* \phi \right), \quad (3.1)$$

where $\kappa^2 = 32\pi G_N$ and the covariant derivative is defined as $D_{\mu}\phi = (\partial_{\mu} + iQA_{\mu})\phi$. In our conventions the Ricci tensor is defined as $R_{\mu\nu} = R^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\alpha\nu}$ and the metric has signature (+, -, ..., -).

From (3.1) we can derive the Einstein equations in generic dimension

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = \frac{\kappa^2}{4}T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where $T_{\mu\nu}(x)$ is the stress-energy tensor. We want to derive the metric that solves perturbatively this equation plugging in as a source the classical stress-energy tensor that results from the quantum emission of a graviton by the scalar field. As we will review later in this section, the perturbative loop expansion coincides with the post-Minkowskian expansion with respect to the variable ρ defined in eq. (2.12), and as explained in the previous section for each power n of ρ we expect for dimensional reasons terms proportional to α with power up to $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$. At tree level, one gets a pointlike source on mass m which generates the Newton potential, while the loop corrections generate precisely the contributions to the stress-energy tensor resulting from the self-interactions of the graviton and from the electromagnetic potential [9, 15]. Following the notation of the previous section, we expand the stress-energy tensor as

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{n} T_{\mu\nu}^{(n,j)} , \qquad (3.3)$$

and correspondingly we expand the metric as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \kappa h_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \kappa \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{n} h_{\mu\nu}^{(n,j)} \,.$$
(3.4)

We impose the de Donder gauge condition (2.6), which by linearity holds separately for each term $h_{\mu\nu}^{(n,j)}$ in the expansion:

$$\partial_{\lambda} h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}{}^{(n,j)} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\nu} h^{(n,j)} = 0.$$
 (3.5)

In the same gauge we compute the amplitudes. Substituting the expansions above in (3.2), one gets at any order the equation

$$\Box h_{\mu\nu}^{(n,j)}(x) = -\frac{\kappa}{2} \left(T_{\mu\nu}^{(n-1,j)}(x) - \frac{1}{d-1} \eta_{\mu\nu} T^{(n-1,j)}(x) \right) , \qquad (3.6)$$

which says that the n-1-th post-Minkowskian term of the stress-energy tensor is the source of the *n*-th post-Minkowskian term of the metric. The interpretation of this phenomenon is due to the non-linear nature of gravity. Indeed, as already mentioned above, while the first post-Minkowskian order of the metric is reconstructed by the matter contribution of the stress-energy tensor, higher orders correspond to terms in which the gravitational field interacts with itself [9]. This explains also that the non linearity of gravity is translated to self-interaction terms of the gravitons, which are encoded in loop diagrams.

In the very same way, it is possible to work out a similar expression for the electromagnetic potential. From the action in (3.1), the field equations of the electromagnetic potential in Feynman gauge are

$$\Box A_{\mu}(x) = j_{\mu}(x), \qquad (3.7)$$

where $j_{\mu}(x)$ is the electromagnetic current. Expanding the electromagnetic current and the potential in a post-Minkowskian series like

$$j_{\mu} = \sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{n} j_{\mu}^{(n,j)} \quad \text{and} \quad A_{\mu} = \sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{n} A_{\mu}^{(n,j)} , \qquad (3.8)$$

the field equations at each order are

$$\Box A^{(n,j)}_{\mu}(x) = j^{(n-1,j)}_{\mu}(x) \,. \tag{3.9}$$

We now review the techniques to extract the classical contributions of loop amplitudes and apply them to diagrams with photons and gravitons in the loops, describing the emission of either a graviton or a photon. Following [18], considering the matrix element of the gravitational source

$$T_{\mu\nu}(q^2) \equiv \langle p_2 | T_{\mu\nu}(0) | p_1 \rangle , \qquad (3.10)$$

where $q = p_1 - p_2$ is the transferred momentum and the non-covariant normalization of particle states is implied,⁵ we know that the classical contribution of the stress-energy tensor in momentum space can be computed from processes of the kind

 $n - j \begin{cases} & & \\ &$

⁵In particular we use the normalization in which $\langle p_2 | p_1 \rangle = (2\pi)^d \delta^{(d)} (\vec{p_1} - \vec{p_2}).$

where n - j gravitons and an even number j of photons are attached to a massive line, and a tree internal structure ends up with a graviton emission. Therefore, the number of loops in the amplitude is l = n - 1, which relates the loop order with the order in the post-Minkowskian expansion. As a consequence, considering the static limit, eq. (3.6) can be rewritten as $h^{(l+1,j)}(\vec{x}) = -\frac{\kappa}{2} \int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{2} \frac{e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}}}{2} \left(T^{(l,j)}(\vec{a}^2) - \frac{1}{2}n T^{(l,j)}(\vec{a}^2)\right) \qquad (3.12)$

$$h_{\mu\nu}^{(l+1,j)}(\vec{x}) = -\frac{\kappa}{2} \int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{e^{iq\cdot x}}{\vec{q}^2} \left(T_{\mu\nu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2) - \frac{1}{d-1} \eta_{\mu\nu} T^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2) \right) , \qquad (3.12)$$

where $T^{(l,j)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2)$ is the Fourier transform of $T^{(l,j)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{x})$.

In order to recover the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric, we can infer that the classical limit of $T^{(l,j)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2)$ must be

$$T^{(l,j)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2) \propto \int \prod_{i=1}^l \frac{d^d \vec{\ell}_i}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{q}^2}{\left(\prod_{i=1}^l \vec{\ell}_i^2\right) \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell}_1 - \dots - \vec{\ell}_l\right)^2} = J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2), \qquad (3.13)$$

where $J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)$ is the massless *l*-loop 'sunset' master integral, as shown in appendix B. From this last expression, exploiting the fact that the stress-energy tensor is conserved and Lorentz covariant, we can express it in terms of form factors $c_1^{(l,j)}(d)$ and $c_2^{(l,j)}(d)$ as

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{(l)}(\vec{q}^2) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{l+1} T_{\mu\nu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2)$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{l+1} m\pi^l \left(c_1^{(l,j)}(d) \delta_{\mu}^0 \delta_{\nu}^0 + c_2^{(l,j)}(d) \left(-\frac{q_{\mu}q_{\nu}}{\vec{q}^2} - \eta_{\mu\nu} \right) \right) (G_N m)^{l-j} (\alpha G_N)^{\frac{j}{2}} J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2) .$$
(3.14)

Substituting this relation in eq. (3.12), one gets order by order in l and j

$$\kappa h_{\mu\nu}^{(l+1,j)}(\vec{x}) = -16 \pi^{l+1} \int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}}}{\vec{q}^2} \left(c_1^{(l,j)}(d) \left(\delta_{\mu}^0 \delta_{\nu}^0 - \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{d-1} \right) + c_2^{(l,j)}(d) \left(-\frac{q_{\mu}q_{\nu}}{\vec{q}^2} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{d-1} \right) \right) \times (G_N m)^{l+1-j} (\alpha G_N)^{\frac{j}{2}} J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2) .$$
(2.15)

Using the master integral identities (B.10) and (B.12) one then determines $h_{00}^{(l+1,j)}(r)$ and $h_{ij}^{(l+1,j)}(r)$, which are the only non-vanishing components of the metric. From these, one extracts the functions $h_i^{(l+1,j)}(r)$ defined in (2.8), obtaining [18]

$$h_{0}^{(l+1,j)}(r) = -\frac{16}{d-1} \left((d-2)c_{1}^{(l,j)}(d) + c_{2}^{(l,j)}(d) \right) \left(\frac{\rho}{4}\right)^{l+1} (G_{N}m)^{l+1-j} (\alpha G_{N})^{\frac{j}{2}}$$

$$h_{1}^{(l+1,j)}(r) = \frac{16}{d-1} \left(c_{1}^{(l,j)}(d) - \left(1 + \frac{d-1}{2-l(d-2)}\right) c_{2}^{(l,j)}(d) \right)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{\rho}{4}\right)^{l+1} (G_{N}m)^{l+1-j} (\alpha G_{N})^{\frac{j}{2}}$$

$$h_{2}^{(l+1,j)}(r) = 16 \frac{(d-2)(l+1)}{2-l(d-2)} c_{2}^{(l,j)}(d) \left(\frac{\rho}{4}\right)^{l+1} (G_{N}m)^{l+1-j} (\alpha G_{N})^{\frac{j}{2}}.$$
(3.16)

These expressions impose an explicit relation between the metric and the amplitude calculation of processes like (3.11), from which the form factors are derived.

We now discuss how the form factors in (3.14) can be extracted from the amplitudes in (3.11). Using the Feynman rules in appendix A, the stress-energy tensor is given by

$$-\frac{i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}T_{\mu\nu}^{(l,j)}(q^{2})$$

$$=\int\prod_{i=1}^{l}\frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{i}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}}\frac{(i)^{l}\left(\prod_{i=1}^{l+1-j}i\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)_{\mu_{i}\nu_{i}}P^{\mu_{i}\nu_{i},\lambda_{i}\sigma_{i}}\right)\left(\prod_{i=1}^{j}-i\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\alpha_{i}}\right)}{\prod_{i=1}^{l}\left(\left(p_{1}-\sum_{k=1}^{i}\ell_{k}\right)^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \times \frac{\mathcal{M}_{\lambda_{1}\sigma_{1},\dots,\lambda_{l-j+1}\sigma_{l-j+1},\alpha_{1},\dots,\alpha_{j},\mu\nu}(p_{1},p_{2},\ell_{1},\dots,\ell_{l})}{\prod_{i=1}^{l+1}\left(\ell_{i}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)},$$
(3.17)

where \mathcal{M} parametrises the tree structure of the amplitude, and in which the momentum conservation implies $p_1 - p_2 = q = \ell_1 + \ldots + \ell_{l+1}$. Following [12, 18], we can integrate out the temporal component of each internal momentum, fixing $\ell_i^0 = 0$ for any $i = 1, \ldots, l+1$ in the argument of the loop integral, and considering a combinatorial factor $\frac{1}{(l+1)!}$ in front. Moreover, the vertices attached to the massive line, due to the static and long range limit,

$$q^0 = E_1 - E_2 = 0$$
 and $|\vec{p_i}| \ll m$, (3.18)

take the form

$$\left(\tau_{\phi^2 h}\right)_{\mu\nu} \simeq -i\,\kappa\,m^2\delta^0_\mu\delta^0_\nu \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\tau_{\phi^2 A}\right)_\alpha \simeq -2\,i\,Q\,m\,\delta^0_\alpha\,,$$
 (3.19)

acting essentially like projectors on the temporal component. From these considerations, eq. (3.17) becomes

$$-\frac{i\kappa}{2} 2m T_{\mu\nu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{1}{(l+1)!} \int \prod_{i=1}^{l} \frac{d^d \vec{\ell}_i}{(2\pi)^d} (-1)^{j+l+1} 2^{j-l} m^{l+2-j} \kappa^{l-j+1} Q^j \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{l-j+1} P^{00,\lambda_i \sigma_i}}{\prod_{i=1}^{l+1} \vec{\ell}_i^{\,2}} \times \mathcal{M}_{\lambda_1 \sigma_1, \dots, \lambda_{l-j+1} \sigma_{l-j+1}, 0, \dots, 0, \mu\nu} (p_1, p_2, \ell_1, \dots, \ell_l) \Big|_{\ell_i^0 = 0},$$
(3.20)

where

$$P_{00,\mu\nu} = \delta^0_\mu \delta^0_\nu - \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{d-1} \,. \tag{3.21}$$

Comparing this expression with eq. (3.13), one finally concludes that the classical limit is obtained extracting from (3.20) all the pieces proportional to the master integral $J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)$.

This analysis can be easily repeated in order to compute the classical limit of the electromagnetic potential. Following the same procedure as before, defining the electromagnetic current as

$$j_{\mu}(q^2) \equiv \langle p_2 | j_{\mu}(0) | p_1 \rangle , \qquad (3.22)$$

its classical contribution in momentum space can be computed from an l-loop expansion of photon emission scattering amplitudes,

$$n - j - 1 \begin{cases} p_2 \\ \vdots \\ f_1 \\ p_1 \\ p_1 \\ p_2 \\ p_2 \\ p_1 \\ p_2 \\ p_2 \\ p_1 \\ p_2 \\ p_2 \\ p_2 \\ p_2 \\ p_2 \\ p_1 \\ p_2 \\$$

in which the current is expanded in a loop series as well. Attached to the massive line, we have n - j - 1 gravitons and an odd number j + 1 of photons, and analogously to the previous case a tree internal structure ends up with a photon emission. In the static limit, eq. (3.9) therefore becomes

$$A_{\mu}^{(l+1,j)}(\vec{x}) = \int \frac{d^d q}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}}}{\vec{q}^2} j_{\mu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (3.24)$$

where again $j_{\mu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2)$ is the Fourier transform of $j_{\mu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{x})$. Following the same argument discussed in the metric case, one concludes that the classical limit of the electromagnetic current must be proportional to the master integral $J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)$, from which an expansion in terms of form factors $c^{(l,j)}(d)$ leads to

$$j_{\mu}^{(l)}(\vec{q}^2) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{l+1} j_{\mu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^2) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j \text{ even}}}^{l+1} Q \,\delta_{\mu}^0 \, c^{(l,j)}(d) (G_N m)^{l-j} (\alpha G_N)^{\frac{j}{2}} J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2) \,. \tag{3.25}$$

Using the Fourier transform of the master integral in eq. (B.10), one finally obtains

$$A_{\mu}^{(l+1,j)}(r) = Q \,\delta_{\mu}^{0} c^{(l,j)}(d) (G_{N}m)^{l-j} (\alpha G_{N})^{\frac{j}{2}} \left(\frac{\rho}{4\pi}\right)^{l+1} \,. \tag{3.26}$$

We observe that only the temporal component of the potential is non vanishing. The outcome of this analysis is that one obtains an explicit relation between the photon emission amplitudes in (3.23) and the classical electromagnetic potential.

All manipulations performed to extract the classical contribution to the stress-energy tensor apply for the electromagnetic current as well. The electromagnetic current can be directly written as

$$-i 2m j_{\mu}^{(l,j)}(\vec{q}^{2}) = \frac{1}{(l+1)!} \int \prod_{i=1}^{l} \frac{d^{d}\vec{\ell}_{i}}{(2\pi)^{d}} (-1)^{l+j} 2^{j+1-l} m^{l+1-j} \kappa^{l-j} Q^{j+1} \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{l-j} P^{00,\lambda_{i}\sigma_{i}}}{\prod_{i=1}^{l+1} \vec{\ell}_{i}^{2}} \times \mathcal{M}_{\lambda_{1}\sigma_{1},\dots,\lambda_{l-j+1}\sigma_{l-j+1},0,\dots,0,\mu}(p_{1},p_{2},\ell_{1},\dots,\ell_{l}) \Big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0},$$
(3.27)

where again \mathcal{M} parametrises the tree structure of the amplitude. The classical limit is obtained selecting out of (3.27) the contribution proportional to $J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)$, from which the form factors can be read.



Figure 1. Tree-level diagram for graviton emission.

4 Metric from scattering amplitudes

In the following, we compute the interaction of massive charged scalar fields with the gravitational field in an arbitrary number of dimensions D = d + 1. By means of Feynman rules, we perform quantum computations up to 2-loop order and from the resulting stressenergy tensor we recover the metric perturbation components in de Donder gauge computed in section 2. We show the appearance of divergences at 1 and 2 loops in d = 4 and at 2 loops in d = 3, which will be treated in detail in section 6.

Tree level. For completeness, we first consider the tree level amplitude, corresponding to l = 0, j = 0 in (3.11), given in figure 1. We consider on-shell particles, $p_1^2 = p_2^2 = m^2$, with transferred momentum $q = p_1 - p_2$. The stress-energy tensor arising at tree-level is

$$\frac{-i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_1E_2}T^{(0,0)}_{\mu\nu}(q^2) = (\tau_{\phi^2h})_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.1)$$

where $(\tau_{\phi^2 h})$ is the 2 scalars — 1 graviton vertex in (A.6). Using (3.19) one gets

$$T^{(0,0)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2) = m \,\delta^0_\mu \delta^0_\nu \,. \tag{4.2}$$

Therefore, comparing this result with eq. (3.14), the coefficients $c_1^{(0,0)}$ and $c_2^{(0,0)}$ are

$$c_1^{(0,0)}(d) = 1$$

$$c_2^{(0,0)}(d) = 0$$
(4.3)

and from (3.16) one gets the metric components

$$h_0^{(1,0)}(r) = -4\frac{d-2}{d-1}G_N m \rho$$

$$h_1^{(1,0)}(r) = \frac{4}{d-1}G_N m \rho$$

$$h_2^{(1,0)}(r) = 0,$$
(4.4)

where ρ is defined in (2.12). These results are in agreement with the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric (2.17) for the terms proportional to $mG_N\rho$.

1-loop order. We now compute the contribution to the stress-energy tensor that arises at 1-loop order. There are two diagrams that contribute, i.e. l = 1, j = 0 and l = 1, j = 2. The first one is obtained evaluating the diagram that involves a 3-gravitons vertex, as in



Figure 2. 1-loop diagram for graviton emission with 2 internal gravitons.

figure 2. The amplitude of this diagram is

$$= \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{-iP^{\alpha\beta,\lambda\kappa}P^{\gamma\delta,\rho\sigma}\left(\tau_{\phi^2h}\right)_{\alpha\beta}\left(\tau_{\phi^2h}\right)_{\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{h^2h}\right)_{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma,\lambda\kappa}\left(\ell,q\right)}{(\ell^2+i\epsilon)((\ell-q)^2+i\epsilon)((\ell-p_1)^2-m^2+i\epsilon)}$$
(4.5)

where $P^{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}$ is defined in (A.4) and the 3 graviton vertex (τ_{h^2h}) is defined in eq. (A.10). The resulting coefficients of the stress-energy tensor are [18]

$$c_1^{(1,0)}(d) = -2\frac{4d^2 - 15d + 10}{(d-1)^2}$$

$$c_2^{(1,0)}(d) = -\frac{2(d-2)(3d-2)}{(d-1)^2}$$
(4.6)

and from (3.16) we get

$$h_0^{(2,0)}(r) = \frac{8(d-2)^2}{(d-1)^2} (G_N m)^2 \rho^2$$

$$h_1^{(2,0)}(r) = -\frac{4(2d^2 - 9d + 14)}{(d-4)(d-1)^2} (G_N m)^2 \rho^2$$

$$h_2^{(2,0)}(r) = \frac{4(d-2)^2 (3d-2)}{(d-4)(d-1)^2} (G_N m)^2 \rho^2.$$
(4.7)

These components are in any dimension in agreement with the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric (2.17) for the terms proportional to $m^2 G_N^2 \rho^2$. In particular, $h_1^{(2,0)}$ and $h_2^{(2,0)}$ are divergent in five dimensions.

The other contribution at 1-loop order is given by the diagram that contains two photons drawn in figure 3. The resulting contribution to the stress-energy tensor is

$$\frac{-i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_1E_2}T^{(1,2)}_{\mu\nu}(q^2) = \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{-i\left(\tau_{\phi^2A}\right)_{\alpha}\left(\tau_{\phi^2A}\right)_{\beta}\left(\tau_{A^2h}\right)_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha,\beta}(\ell,\ell-q)}{(\ell+i\epsilon)^2((\ell-q)^2+i\epsilon)((p_1-\ell)^2-m^2+i\epsilon)},$$
(4.8)

where $(\tau_{\phi^2 A})$ is the 2 scalars — 1 photon vertex in (A.5) and $(\tau_{A^2 h})$ is the 2 photons — 1 graviton vertex in (A.7). Following the procedure in section 3 one gets

$$T^{(1,2)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2) = i \frac{Q^2}{\kappa} \int \frac{d^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{(\tau_{A^2h})_{\mu\nu}{}^{0,0}(\ell,\ell-q)\Big|_{\ell^0=0}}{\vec{\ell}^2(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell})^2}, \qquad (4.9)$$



Figure 3. 1-loop diagram for graviton emission with 2 internal photons.

where the numerator is explicitly

$$(\tau_{A^{2}h})_{\mu\nu}{}^{0,0}(\ell,\ell-q)\Big|_{\ell^{0}=0} = i\kappa \left(\left(\delta^{0}_{\mu}\delta^{0}_{\nu} - \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{2} \right)\ell \cdot (\ell-q) + \ell_{\mu}\ell_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}(q_{\mu}\ell_{\nu} + q_{\nu}\ell_{\mu}) \right).$$
(4.10)

Then the resulting component of the stress-energy tensor, using the identities in appendix C, are

$$T_{00}^{(1,2)}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{Q^2}{4} J_{(1)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (4.11)$$

and

$$\delta^{ij}T^{(1,2)}_{ij}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{Q^2}{4}(2-d)J_{(1)}(\vec{q}^2).$$
(4.12)

From eqs. (4.11) and (4.12) one finally gets

$$c_1^{(1,2)}(d) = \frac{-2d+3}{d-1}$$

$$c_2^{(1,2)}(d) = \frac{2-d}{d-1}$$
(4.13)

and again using eq. (3.16) one obtains

$$h_0^{(2,2)}(r) = -\frac{(-2d+4)}{d-1} G_N \alpha \rho^2$$

$$h_1^{(2,2)}(r) = \frac{-2d+6}{(d-1)(d-4)} G_N \alpha \rho^2$$

$$h_2^{(2,2)}(r) = 2 \frac{(d-2)^2}{(d-1)(d-4)} G_N \alpha \rho^2.$$
(4.14)

These metric perturbations are for any d in agreement with the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric (2.17) for the terms proportional to $\alpha G_N \rho^2$, and $h_1^{(2,2)}$ and $h_2^{(2,2)}$ are divergent in five dimensions, as expected.

2-loop order. The third order post-Minkowskian contributions to the metric are given by the 2-loop diagrams of the type in (3.11). Some of these diagrams give the same contribution since in the classical limit the amplitude is invariant under the exchange of photon and graviton lines. Since all the vertices in appendix A are defined with the right symmetry factor inside, we have to add to each diagram the corresponding multiplicity factor. At 2-loop order (n = 3) one gets the diagrams in (3.11) for j = 0 and for j = 2, which give correspondingly the metric contributions $h_{\mu\nu}^{(3,0)}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}^{(3,2)}$.



Figure 4. 2-loop diagrams for graviton emission with j = 0, i.e. only graviton internal lines.

The first case (j = 0) corresponds to the diagrams in which there are only graviton internal lines, which are given in figure 4. The computation of these diagrams was carried out in [18] and we report here the result for the coefficients $c_1(d)$ and $c_2(d)$:

$$c_{1}^{(2,0)}(d) = \frac{32}{3(d-4)(d-1)^{3}} \left(9d^{4} - 70d^{3} + 203d^{2} - 254d + 104\right)$$

$$c_{2}^{(2,0)}(d) = \frac{64(d-2)}{3(d-4)(d-1)^{3}} \left(2d^{3} - 13d^{2} + 25d - 10\right).$$
(4.15)

From these, one computes the metric components

$$h_0^{(3,0)}(r) = \frac{8(7-3d)(d-2)^3}{(d-4)(d-1)^3} m^3 G_N^3 \rho^3$$

$$h_1^{(3,0)}(r) = \frac{8(7d^4 - 63d^3 + 214d^2 - 334d + 212)}{3(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^3} m^3 G_N^3 \rho^3$$

$$h_2^{(3,0)}(r) = \frac{8(d-2)^2 (-2d^3 + 13d^2 - 25d + 10)}{(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^3} m^3 G_N^3 \rho^3.$$
(4.16)

These results are in agreement with the post-Minkowskian expansion of the metric (2.17) for the terms proportional to $m^3 G_N^3 \rho^3$. In particular, they are all divergent in five dimensions, while $h_1^{(3,0)}$ and $h_2^{(3,0)}$ are also divergent in four dimensions.

In the case j = 2 we have to consider diagrams with two photons and one graviton emitted from the scalar line. There are in total three diagrams and we will compute the stress-energy tensor of each diagram with the right multiplicity and then sum all of them. The first diagram is given in figure 5, and its contribution to the energy-momentum tensor is

$$-\frac{i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}T_{\mu\nu}^{(2,2)(a)}(q^{2})$$

$$= 6 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\beta} \left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\rho\sigma}}{\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right) \left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \quad (4.17)$$

$$\times \frac{P_{\rho\sigma,\eta\chi} \left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)_{\mu\nu,\gamma,\alpha} \left(k,k'\right) \left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\eta\chi} {}_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}(p,p')}{\left(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon\right) \left(\ell_{2}^{2}+i\epsilon\right) \left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right) \left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}-q)^{2}+i\epsilon\right)},$$

where we introduced the new momenta

$$p = \ell_1 \qquad k = \ell_1 + \ell_2 p' = \ell_1 + \ell_2 \qquad k' = \ell_1 + \ell_2 - q.$$
(4.18)



 \mathbf{a}

Figure 5. 2-loop diagram for graviton emission with 1 internal graviton and 3 internal photons.

The factor multiplying the integral is the multiplicity of the diagram in figure 5. From the analysis of section 3 one obtains

$$T^{(2,2)(a)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2) = mQ^2 \int \frac{d^d\vec{\ell_1}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d\vec{\ell_2}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{(\tau_{A^2h})_{\mu\nu,\gamma,0} (k,k') P_{00,\eta\chi} (\tau_{A^2h})^{\eta\chi} {}_0^{\gamma}(p,p')|_{\ell_i^0=0}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 (\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2} - \vec{q})^2 (\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2})^2} .$$
(4.19)

Using the definition (A.7) of the vertex (τ_{A^2h}) the numerator becomes

$$(\tau_{A^{2}h})_{\mu\nu,\gamma,0}(k,k')P_{00,\eta\chi}(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\eta\chi}{}_{0}{}^{\gamma}(p,p')\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0} = -\kappa^{2}\frac{d-2}{d-1}p \cdot p'\bigg(k \cdot k'\left(\delta_{\mu}^{0}\delta_{\nu}^{0} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\right) + \frac{1}{2}(k_{\mu}k'_{\nu} + k_{\nu}k'_{\mu})\bigg).$$

$$(4.20)$$

Substituting this in eq. (4.19) and using the identities in appendix C, one obtains that the time-like component of the stress-energy tensor is

$$T_{00}^{(2,2)(a)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{1}{12} \frac{d-2}{d-1} m Q^2 \kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (4.21)$$

while for the trace of the space-like components one gets

$$\delta^{ij} T_{ij}^{(2,2)(a)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{1}{12} \frac{(d-2)^2}{d-1} m Q^2 \kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) \,. \tag{4.22}$$

The second diagram that we consider is the one in figure 6, which gives the contribution to the stress-energy tensor

$$-\frac{i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}T_{\mu\nu}^{(2,2)(b)}(q^{2})$$

$$= 3 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{i\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\alpha}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\beta}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\rho\sigma}}{((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \quad (4.23)$$

$$\times \frac{P_{\rho\sigma,\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{A^{2}h^{2}}\right)_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\delta}{}_{\alpha,\beta}(p,p')}{(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon)\left(\ell_{2}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}-q)^{2}+i\epsilon\right)},$$

where we defined the momenta $p = \ell_2$ and $p' = \ell_1 + \ell_2 - q$ and where $(\tau_{A^2h^2})$ is the 2 photons - 2 gravitons vertex in (A.8). Applying (3.18) and integrating the temporal component of



Figure 6. 2-loop diagram for graviton emission with 2 internal photons and 1 internal graviton.

the loop momenta we have

$$T^{(2,2)(b)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{i\,m\,Q^2}{2} \int \frac{d^d\vec{\ell_1}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d\vec{\ell_2}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{P_{00,\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{A^2h^2}\right)_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\delta}_{0,0}(p,p')\big|_{\ell_i^0=0}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 (\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2} - \vec{q})^2} \,. \tag{4.24}$$

Using the vertex (A.8) the numerator of the stress-energy tensor is

$$P_{00,\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{A^{2}h^{2}}\right)_{\mu\nu}{}^{\gamma\delta}{}_{0,0}(p,p')\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0} = -\frac{i\kappa^{2}}{4}\left(\frac{2(d-3)}{d-1}\left(p_{\mu}p_{\nu}'+p_{\nu}p_{\mu}'-p\cdot p'\eta_{\mu\nu}\right)+\frac{2(3d-7)}{d-1}p\cdot p'\delta_{\mu}^{0}\delta_{\nu}^{0}\right),$$

$$(4.25)$$

and substituting back in eq. (4.24), the resulting components of the stress-energy tensor are

$$T_{00}^{(2,2)(b)}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{1}{12}\frac{d-2}{d-1}Q^2m\kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2), \qquad (4.26)$$

and

b

$$\delta^{ij}T_{ij}^{(2,2)(b)}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{1}{24}\frac{(d-3)(d-2)}{d-1}mQ^2\kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2).$$
(4.27)

The last diagram for the emission of a graviton at 2-loop order is the one in figure 7. The corresponding stress-energy tensor is

$$-\frac{i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}T_{\mu\nu}^{(2,2)(c)}(q^{2})$$

$$= 3 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{-\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\alpha}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\beta}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\rho\sigma}}{((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \times \frac{P_{\rho\sigma}^{\eta\chi}P_{\theta\xi}^{\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\theta\xi}{}_{\alpha,\beta}(p,p')\left(\tau_{h^{2}h}\right)_{\mu\nu,\gamma\delta,\eta\chi}(k,k')}{(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon)\left(\ell_{2}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}-q)^{2}+i\epsilon\right)},$$

$$(4.28)$$

where we have introduced the new momenta

$$p = \ell_1 \qquad k = \ell_1 + \ell_2 p' = -\ell_2 \qquad k' = q.$$
(4.29)



Figure 7. 2-loop diagram for graviton emission with 2 internal gravitons and 2 internal photons.

Integrating over the time-like components of the loop momenta gives

$$T^{(2,2)(c)}_{\mu\nu}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{mQ^2}{2} \int \frac{d^d\vec{\ell}_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d\vec{\ell}_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{(\tau_{A^2h})^{\alpha\beta}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{(\tau_{A^2h})^{\alpha\beta}}{\vec{\ell}_1^2 \vec{\ell}_2^2 (\vec{\ell}_1 + \vec{\ell}_2 - \vec{q})^2 (\vec{\ell}_1 + \vec{\ell}_2)^2}.$$
(4.30)

Introducing the vertex $\tilde{\tau}_{h^2h}$ defined in (A.11) the numerator of the integrand can be written as

$$(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\alpha\beta}{}_{0,0}(p,p')P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\gamma\delta}P_{00}{}^{\rho\sigma}(\tau_{h^{2}h})_{\mu\nu,\gamma\delta,\rho\sigma}(k,k') = (\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\alpha\beta}{}_{0,0}(p,p')(\tilde{\tau}_{h^{2}h})_{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,00}(k,k').$$
(4.31)

Using the vertexes (A.13) and (A.7) we obtain the expression of the numerator to be

$$(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\alpha\beta}{}_{0,0}(p,p') (\tilde{\tau}_{h^{2}h})_{00,\alpha\beta,00} (k,k') \big|_{\ell^{0}_{i}=0} = \frac{\kappa^{2}}{4} \frac{1}{d-1} \left(p \cdot p' \left(-dk'^{2} + \frac{(3d-3)(d-2)}{d-1}k^{2} + (d-2)(k-k')^{2} \right) + (4d-8)(k' \cdot p)(k' \cdot p') \right)$$

$$(4.32)$$

for the 00-component and

$$\delta^{ij} (\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\alpha\beta}{}_{0,0}(p,p') (\tilde{\tau}_{h^{2}h})_{ij,\alpha\beta,00} (k,k') \big|_{\ell^{0}_{i}=0} = -\frac{\kappa^{2}}{4} \frac{d-2}{d-1} \left(p \cdot p' \left((d-2)k^{2} + (d-4)(k-k')^{2} + 3dk'^{2} \right) + 4(k' \cdot p)(k' \cdot p') \right)$$

$$(4.33)$$

for the trace of the spatial components. Substituting in (4.30), inserting the momenta (4.29) and using the master integral identities in appendix C (in particular (C.12)) we have

$$T_{00}^{(2,2)(c)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{(3d^2 - 19d + 32)}{24(d - 4)(d - 1)} mQ^2 \kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (4.34)$$

and

 \mathbf{c}

$$\delta^{ij} T_{ij}^{(2,2)(c)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{(d-2)(5d^2 - 27d + 30)}{24(d-4)(d-1)} mQ^2 \kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) \,. \tag{4.35}$$

Finally, summing all the contributions, we obtain the total energy-momentum tensor

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{(2,2)}(\vec{q}^2) = \sum_{i=a,b,c} T_{\mu\nu}^{(2,2)(i)}(\vec{q}^2)$$
(4.36)

with

$$T_{00}^{(2,2)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{(3d^2 - 19d + 32)}{24(d-4)(d-1)} mQ^2 \kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2)$$
(4.37)

and

$$\delta^{ij}T_{ij}^{(2,2)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{(d-2)(3d^2 - 16d + 17)}{12(d-4)(d-1)} mQ^2 \kappa^2 J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (4.38)$$

from which we can compute the coefficients $c_i^{(l,j)}(d)$, obtaining

$$c_1^{(2,2)}(d) = \frac{16 \left(9d^3 - 66d^2 + 149d - 100\right)}{3(d-4)(d-1)^2}$$

$$c_2^{(2,2)}(d) = \frac{32(d-2) \left(3d^2 - 16d + 17\right)}{3(d-4)(d-1)^2}.$$
(4.39)

From these coefficients, using eq. (3.16) we finally obtain the metric components $h_i^{(3,2)}$

$$h_0^{(3,2)}(r) = -\frac{4(d-2)^2(3d-11)}{(d-4)(d-1)^2} m\alpha G_N^2 \rho^3$$

$$h_1^{(3,2)}(r) = \frac{8(3d^3 - 25d^2 + 69d - 65)}{3(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^2} m\alpha G_N^2 \rho^3$$

$$h_2^{(3,2)}(r) = -\frac{4(d-2)^2(3d^3 - 19d^2 + 33d - 17)}{(d-4)(d-3)(d-1)^3} m\alpha G_N^2 \rho^3.$$
(4.40)

We can compare this result with the part proportional to $m\alpha G_N^2$ of (2.17) and observe that they match exactly. In particular, all these terms diverge in d = 4, and $h_1^{(3,2)}$ and $h_2^{(3,2)}$ also diverge in d = 3.

As a summary, we have shown that the loop computations give exactly the expression for the metric of the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge given in eq. (2.17). At third post-Minkowskian order, in d = 3 only h_1 and h_2 diverge while in d = 4 all the components diverge. To obtain the values of the metrics component in these dimensions we need to perform a renormalisation process which will be described in section 6. In the next section, we first proceed to compute the gauge potential from scattering amplitudes.

5 Electromagnetic potential from scattering amplitudes

In this section we perform the computation of the photon emission process in (3.23) up to 2-loop order, and we recover the expression of the electromagnetic potential by directly evaluating eq. (3.24) from the electromagnetic current. We show the appearance of divergences at 2 loops in d = 4, which will be treated in detail in section 6. As already noticed in section 3, only the time component of the gauge potential is non vanishing, so in the following it will be the only component taken into account.



Figure 8. Tree-level diagram for photon emission.



Figure 9. 1-loop diagram for photon emission.

Tree level. As for the metric, we start the analysis at tree level for completeness. In the notation of section 3, the tree-level diagram corresponds to the term l = 0, j = 0 in the expansion (3.23). Evaluating the matrix element of the current due to the diagram in figure 8, and using the Feynman rules in section A, one obtains

$$-i\sqrt{4E_1E_2}\,j_{\nu}^{(0,0)}(\vec{q}^2) = \left(\tau_{\phi^2A}\right)_{\nu}\,. \tag{5.1}$$

Considering the classical limit, the tree level electromagnetic current is simply the charge,

$$j_0^{(0,0)}(\vec{q}^2) = Q, \qquad (5.2)$$

and replacing it inside eq. (3.24) and using the Fourier transform idendities of the master integral in appendix B, we get

$$A_0^{(1,0)}(r) = \frac{Q}{4\pi}\rho, \qquad (5.3)$$

which is exactly the first order of the expression in (2.25).

1-loop. At this loop order we can only have j = 0. So the 1-loop process is given by the amplitude in figure 9. The electromagnetic current associated to this process reads

$$-i\sqrt{4E_1E_2}\,j_{\nu}^{(1,0)}(q^2) = 2 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{iP_{\alpha\beta,\sigma\rho}\left(\tau_{\phi^2A}\right)^{\mu}\left(\tau_{\phi^2h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}\left(\tau_{A^2h}\right)^{\sigma\rho}{}_{\mu,\nu}\left(\ell,q\right)}{\left((p_1-\ell)^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon\right)\left(\ell^2 + i\epsilon\right)\left((q-\ell)^2 + i\epsilon\right)},$$
(5.4)

where a factor 2 is implied in order to consider the multiplicity of the diagram. Performing the classical limit to obtain an expression like eq. (3.27), one gets

$$j_0^{(1,0)}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{i}{2}\kappa Qm \int \frac{d^d\ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{P_{00,\alpha\beta}\left(\tau_{A^2h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}{}_{0,0}\left(\ell,q\right)\big|_{\ell^0=0}}{\vec{\ell}^2(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell})^2} \,.$$
(5.5)

Considering the tensorial contraction

$$P_{00,\alpha\beta} \left(\tau_{A^2h} \right)^{\alpha\beta}{}_{0,0} \left(\ell, q \right) \big|_{\ell^0 = 0} = -i\kappa \frac{d-2}{d-1} \vec{\ell} \cdot \vec{q} \,, \tag{5.6}$$



Figure 10. 2-loop diagram for photon emission with 2 internal photons and 2 internal gravitons.

we can express the current in term of the master integral through the identities in appendix C. In particular using (C.2) one end up with the compact expression

$$j_0^{(1,0)}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{1}{4}mQ\kappa^2 \frac{d-2}{d-1} J_{(1)}(\vec{q}^2), \qquad (5.7)$$

recovering eq. (3.25), from which it is possible to extract the form factor $c^{(1,0)}(d)$. Replacing the above expression inside the (3.24), exploiting the property (B.10), one obtains

$$A_0^{(2,0)}(r) = -\frac{Q}{4\pi} \frac{2(d-2)}{d-1} m G_N \rho^2 , \qquad (5.8)$$

which shows, at this order, a perfect agreement with the expression (2.25).

2-loop. At 2 loops we can have either j = 0 or j = 2. We first discuss the case j = 0, for which there are three different diagrams, which differ by the internal tree structure. The first amplitude we consider is the one in figure 10, which has 2 internal photons and 2 internal gravitons. The associated electromagnetic current to this process is

$$-i\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}j_{\nu}^{(2,0)(a)}(q^{2}) = 6 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{-P_{\sigma\rho,\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta,\eta\chi}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)_{\lambda}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\eta\chi}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\sigma\rho}}{(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon)\left(\ell_{2}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \times \frac{(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\gamma\delta,\mu,\lambda}\left(\ell_{1},\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}\right)\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}}{((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)}.$$
(5.9)

Exploiting the procedure outlined in section 3, one gets

$$j_{0}^{(2,0)(a)}(\vec{q}^{2}) = -\frac{\kappa^{2}Qm^{2}}{4} \int \frac{d^{d}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{d^{d}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{P^{\alpha\beta,00}P^{\sigma\rho,00}}{\vec{\ell_{1}}^{2}\vec{\ell_{2}}^{2}(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}})^{2}(\vec{\ell_{1}}+\vec{\ell_{2}})^{2}} \times (\tau_{A^{2}h})_{0\mu,\alpha\beta}(\ell_{1},\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{0\mu}{}_{\sigma\rho}(\ell_{1}+\ell_{2},q)|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0},$$
(5.10)

where the tensor contraction gives

 \mathbf{a}

$$P^{\alpha\beta,00}P^{\sigma\rho,00}(\tau_{A^{2}h})_{0,\mu,\alpha\beta}(\ell_{1},\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{0,\mu}{}_{\sigma\rho}(\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}q)\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0} = -\kappa^{2}\frac{(d-2)^{2}}{(d-1)^{2}}(\vec{\ell_{1}}+\vec{\ell_{2}})\cdot\vec{q}\,(\vec{\ell_{1}}+\vec{\ell_{2}})\cdot\vec{\ell_{1}}\,.$$
(5.11)



Figure 11. 2-loop diagram for photon emission with 1 internal photon and 2 internal gravitons.

Then using the reduction identities in appendix C, one gets the current in term of the master integral as

$$j_0^{(2,0)(a)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{\kappa^4 Q m^2}{12} \frac{(d-2)^2}{(d-1)^2} J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (5.12)$$

from which, due to the usual relations of the Fourier transform of the master integral, one recovers

$$A_0^{(3,0)(a)}(r) = \frac{Q}{4\pi} m^2 G_N^2 \frac{16}{3} \frac{(d-2)^2}{(d-1)^2} \rho^3.$$
(5.13)

The second amplitude we consider is the one in figure 11, which has 1 internal photon and 2 internal gravitons. The electromagnetic current associated to the diagram is

$$-i\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}j_{\nu}^{(2,0)(b)}(q^{2}) = 3 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{-iP_{\sigma\rho,\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta,\eta\chi}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\mu}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\eta\chi}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\sigma\rho}}{(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon)\left(\ell_{2}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \times \frac{(\tau_{A^{2}h^{2}})^{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}}{((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon)((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon)}.$$
(5.14)

Performing the classical limit, one gets

b

$$j_{0}^{(2,0)(b)}(\vec{q}^{2}) = \frac{i}{8}\kappa^{2}m^{2}Q \int \frac{d^{d}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{d^{d}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{P_{00,\mu\nu}P_{00,\alpha\beta}(\tau_{A^{2}h^{2}})^{0,0,\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}(\ell_{1},q)|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0}}{\vec{\ell_{1}}^{2}\vec{\ell_{2}}^{2}\left(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}}\right)^{2}}, \quad (5.15)$$

where the tensorial contraction of the numerator leads to

$$P_{00,\mu\nu}P_{00,\alpha\beta}(\tau_{A^{2}h^{2}})^{0,0,\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}(\ell_{1},q)\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0} = i\frac{\kappa^{2}}{2}\frac{(d-2)(3d-7)}{(d-1)^{2}}\vec{\ell_{1}}\cdot\vec{q}.$$
(5.16)

Then using the relation (C.5), the current in term of the master integral reads

$$j_0^{(2,0)(b)}(\vec{q}^2) = -\frac{m^2 Q \kappa^4}{48} \frac{(d-2)(3d-7)}{(d-1)^2} J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (5.17)$$

from which considering the usual Fourier transform one gets

$$A_0^{(3,0)(b)}(r) = -\frac{Q}{4\pi} m^2 G_N^2 \frac{4}{3} \frac{(d-2)(3d-7)}{(d-1)^2} \rho^3.$$
(5.18)



Figure 12. 2-loop diagram for photon emission with 1 internal photon and 3 internal gravitons.

The last diagram that contributes to the process with l = 2, j = 0 is the one with an internal 3 graviton vertex, as shown in figure 12. Since the 3 graviton vertex is internal, we must use the expression given in (A.9) as discussed in appendix A. The current associated to this diagram is

$$-i\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}j_{\nu}^{(2,0)(c)}(q^{2}) = 3 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{P_{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1},\gamma\delta}P_{\alpha_{2}\beta_{2},\eta\chi}P_{\alpha_{3}\beta_{3},\sigma\rho}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\mu}}{\left(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)^{\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\eta\chi}(\tau_{h^{3}})^{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1},\alpha_{2}\beta_{2},\alpha_{3}\beta_{3}}\left(\ell_{1},\ell_{2},-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2}\right)\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\sigma\rho}}_{\mu,\nu}(q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2},q)} \cdot \frac{\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)^{\eta\chi}(\tau_{h^{3}})^{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1},\alpha_{2}\beta_{2},\alpha_{3}\beta_{3}}\left(\ell_{1},\ell_{2},-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2}\right)\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\sigma\rho}}_{\left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)}}{\left((\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)}}$$

$$(5.19)$$

Referring to eq. (3.27), one gets

 \mathbf{c}

$$j_{0}^{(2,0)(c)}(\vec{q}^{2}) = \frac{1}{8}\kappa^{2}Qm^{2}\int \frac{d^{d}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{d^{d}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{P_{00,\mu\nu}P_{00,\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma\rho}}{\vec{\ell_{1}}^{2}\vec{\ell_{2}}^{2}(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}})^{2}(\vec{\ell_{1}}+\vec{\ell_{2}})^{2}} \times (\tau_{h^{3}})^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta} \left(\ell_{1},\ell_{2},-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2}\right) (\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\sigma\rho}{}_{0,0}(q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2},q)\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0},$$
(5.20)

where considering from the beginning the fact that all the expressions that contain internal momenta are symmetric under the exchange of $\ell_1 \leftrightarrow \ell_2$, the tensor contraction at the numerator reads

$$P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma\rho}P_{\mu\nu,00}P_{\alpha\beta,00}(\tau_{h^{3}})^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}(\ell_{1},\ell_{2},-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\sigma\rho}{}_{0,0}(q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2},q)\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0}$$

$$=-\frac{\kappa^{2}}{4}\frac{d-2}{(d-1)^{2}}\bigg(4(d-1)\vec{\ell_{1}}\cdot(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}})\vec{\ell_{1}}\cdot\vec{q}+2(d-1)\vec{\ell_{1}}\cdot(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}})\vec{\ell_{2}}\cdot\vec{q} \quad (5.21)$$

$$+(d-5)\vec{q}\cdot(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}})\vec{\ell_{1}}\cdot\vec{\ell_{2}}\bigg).$$

Exploiting the expressions in appendix C, the current finally reads

$$j_0^{(2,0)(c)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{\kappa^4 m^2 Q}{96} \frac{(d-2)(34-29d+7d^2)}{(d-4)(d-1)^2} J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (5.22)$$

from which

$$A_0^{(3,0)(c)}(r) = \frac{Q}{4\pi} m^2 G_N^2 \frac{2}{3} \frac{(d-2)(34-29d+7d^2)}{(d-4)(d-1)^2} \rho^3.$$
(5.23)



Figure 13. 2-loop diagram for photon emission with 3 internal photons and 1 internal graviton.

At the end we can sum up all the j = 0 pieces to obtain

$$A_0^{(3,0)}(r) = \sum_{i=a,b,c} A_0^{(3,0)(i)}(r) = \frac{Q}{4\pi} m^2 G_N^2 \frac{2(d-2)^2(3d-7)}{(d-1)^2(d-4)} \rho^3,$$
(5.24)

which is exactly the contribution that appears in (2.25). In this last expression a divergence in d = 4 arises. These singularities have to be renormalised, and in section 6 the general procedure to cure them will be shown.

Finally, the only process that contributes at l = 2, j = 2 is the one which has 3 internal photons and 1 internal graviton, shown in figure 13. The electromagentic current associated to this process is then

$$-i\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}j_{\nu}^{(2,2)}(q^{2}) = 3 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{d^{d+1}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma\alpha}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\rho}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\sigma}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}A}\right)^{\rho}}{\left(\ell_{1}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left(\ell_{2}^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}+i\epsilon\right)} \times \frac{(\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\sigma\alpha}}{\left(\left(\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}\right)^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)\left((p_{1}-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2})^{2}-m^{2}+i\epsilon\right)},$$
(5.25)

which in the classical regime reads

$$j_{0}^{(2,2)}(\vec{q}^{2}) = \frac{1}{2}Q^{3} \int \frac{d^{d}\ell_{1}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{d^{d}\ell_{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{P_{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\mu\nu}{}_{00}(\ell_{1},-\ell_{2})\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}{}_{00}(q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2},q)\big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0}}{\vec{\ell_{1}}^{2}\vec{\ell_{2}}^{2}(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}})^{2}(\vec{\ell_{1}}+\vec{\ell_{2}})^{2}}$$
(5.26)

Computing the tensor contraction in the numerator as

$$P_{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta} (\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\mu\nu} {}_{0,0}(\ell_{1}, -\ell_{2}) (\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\alpha\beta} {}_{0,0}(q-\ell_{1}-\ell_{2}, q) \big|_{\ell_{i}^{0}=0} = \frac{\kappa^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{d-3}{d-1} \vec{\ell_{1}} \cdot \vec{\ell_{2}} \ \vec{q} \cdot (\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}}) + 2 \ \vec{q} \cdot \vec{\ell_{2}} \ \vec{\ell_{1}} \cdot (\vec{q}-\vec{\ell_{1}}-\vec{\ell_{2}}) \right) ,$$

$$(5.27)$$

in which again we exploited the symmetry $\ell_1 \leftrightarrow \ell_2$, and using the expressions in appendix C, we obtain

$$j_0^{(2,2)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{Q^3 \kappa^2}{8} \frac{(d-3)(d-2)}{(d-4)(d-1)} J_{(2)}(\vec{q}^2) \,.$$
(5.28)

From this we get the contribution to the electromagnetic potential

$$A_0^{(3,2)}(r) = \frac{Q}{4\pi} \alpha G_N \frac{(d-3)(d-2)}{(d-4)(d-1)} \rho^3.$$
(5.29)

This last expression matches perfectly the corresponding term of eq. (2.25). As before, we notice a divergence for d = 4 which must be renormalised.

To summarise, we have shown that from the loop computations in this section one recovers exactly the expression for the electromagnetic potential of the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge given in eq. (2.25).

6 Divergences and higher-derivative couplings

In section 4 and 5 we noticed the appearance of divergences in d = 3 and d = 4. In this section we show how such divergences are renormalised by non-minimal couplings. After showing how to regularise the divergences, in the first subsection we analyse the structure of the non-minimal couplings that are needed and the variation of the metric and the potential that they produce, while in the second subsection we use these results to renormalise the divergences.

Regularisation in d = 3. In this dimension the only divergences that appear are at 2-loop order for the metric, while the electromagnetic potential is well defined. From the explicit expression of the 2-loop contribution of the metric in d = 3, we notice that $h_0^{(d=3)}|_{2-\text{loop}}$ is non divergent and can be already compared with the (2.20) with a perfect match. The other two components are equal up to a multiplicative constant, in particular we have $h_2^{(d=3)}|_{2-\text{loop}} = -3h_1^{(d=3)}|_{2-\text{loop}}$. So we will renormalise only the $h_1^{(d=3)}|_{2-\text{loop}}$ component and then obtain the other one using this relation. We perform a dimensional regularisation using $d = 3 + \epsilon$, where ϵ is a small parameter. Neglecting terms that vanish when $\epsilon \to 0$, the result is

$$h_1^{(d=3)}|_{2-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(\frac{4}{3} \frac{m\alpha G_N^2}{r^3} - \frac{2}{3} \frac{m^3 G_N^3}{r^3} \right) + \frac{m^3 G_N^3}{r^3} \left(2\log\left(2C_E r\right) - \frac{4}{3} \right) - \frac{4m\alpha G_N^2}{r^3} \log\left(2C_E r\right) ,$$

$$(6.1)$$

where following [18] we defined the constant $C_E^2 \equiv \pi e^{\gamma_{\rm EM}}$, with $\gamma_{\rm EM}$ the Euler-Mascheroni constant.

Regularisation in d = 4. In d = 4 dimension the metric is divergent at both 1-loop and 2-loop order, while the potential is divergent at 2-loop. Again, from the explicit form of the metric, we can see that at 1-loop order the $h_0^{(d=4)}|_{1-\text{loop}}$ component is non divergent and no renormalisation procedure has to be carried on. The $h_1^{(d=4)}|_{1-\text{loop}}$ and $h_2^{(d=4)}|_{1-\text{loop}}$ components are related by the identity $h_2^{(d=4)}|_{1-\text{loop}} = -4h_1^{(d=4)}|_{1-\text{loop}}$ and so we can focus just on one component. Regularizing in $d = 4 + \epsilon$, and neglecting again terms that vanish when $\epsilon \to 0$, the result at 1-loop is

$$h_{1}^{(d=4)}|_{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(-\frac{2}{3} \frac{\alpha G_{N}}{\pi^{2} r^{4}} - \frac{40}{9} \frac{G_{N}^{2} m^{2}}{\pi^{2} r^{4}} \right) + \frac{m^{2} G_{N}^{2}}{\pi^{2} r^{4}} \left(-\frac{4}{27} + \frac{40}{9} \log \left(C_{E}^{2} r^{2} \right) \right) + \frac{\alpha G_{N}}{\pi^{2} r^{4}} \left(-\frac{4}{9} + \frac{2}{3} \log \left(C_{E}^{2} r^{2} \right) \right) .$$

$$(6.2)$$

For what concerns the 2-loop order, we can focus just on the $h_1^{(d=4)}|_{2-\text{loop}}$ component since the relation $h_0^{(d=4)}|_{2-\text{loop}} = h_2^{(d=4)}|_{2-\text{loop}} = -2h_1^{(d=4)}|_{2-\text{loop}}$ holds. We obtain

$$\begin{aligned} h_1^{(d=4)}|_{2-\text{loop}} &= \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(\frac{8}{9} \frac{m \alpha G_N^2}{\pi^3 r^6} + \frac{160}{27} \frac{m^3 G_N^3}{\pi^3 r^6} \right) + \frac{m^3 G_N^3}{\pi^3 r^6} \left(\frac{208}{81} - \frac{80}{9} \log \left(C_E^2 r^2 \right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{\alpha m G_N^2}{\pi^3 r^6} \left(\frac{64}{27} - \frac{4}{3} \log \left(C_E^2 r^2 \right) \right) \,, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.3)$$

Finally, the potential regularised at 2-loop is

$$\begin{aligned} A_0^{(d=4)} \big|_{2-\text{loop}} &= \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(\frac{10}{9} \frac{Q(G_N m)^2}{\pi^4 r^6} + \frac{1}{6} \frac{QG_N \alpha}{\pi^4 r^6} \right) - \frac{1}{27} \frac{Q(G_N m)^2}{\pi^4 r^6} \left(-28 + 45 \log(C_E^2 r^2) \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{36} \frac{QG_N \alpha}{\pi^4 r^6} \left(-7 + 9 \log(C_E^2 r^2) \right) \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.4)$$

6.1 Non-minimal couplings

As shown in [18], the previous divergences can be renormalised considering non-minimal coupling terms linear in the Riemann tensor and quadratic in the scalar field. Since we are considering charged scalars, we generalise their non-minimal couplings to the following form

$$\delta^{(\mathfrak{n})}S^{ct} = \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} (G_N m)^{\frac{2(\mathfrak{n}-k)}{d-2}} (\alpha G_N)^{\frac{k}{d-2}} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} \Big(\alpha^{(\mathfrak{n},k)}(d) (D^2)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} R D_\mu \phi D^\mu \phi + \Big(\beta_0^{(\mathfrak{n},k)}(d) D_\mu D_\nu (D^2)^{\mathfrak{n}-2} R + \beta_1^{(\mathfrak{n},k)}(d) (D^2)^{\mathfrak{n}-1} R_{\mu\nu} \Big) D^\mu \phi D^\nu \phi \Big)$$
(6.5)

where D_{μ} is the covariant derivative, and where we consider only positive integer powers of the gravitational and electromagnetic coupling.

Due to properties of Fourier transform, terms with $n \geq 2$ and terms proportional to $\beta_0^{(n,k)}$ and $\beta_1^{(n,k)}$ do not contribute to the classical limit of the metric [18]. We have verified that this statement is valid also for the potential. For the sake of simplicity of notation, we define

$$\alpha^{(\mathfrak{n})}(d) = \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} (G_N m)^{\frac{-2k}{d-2}} (\alpha G_N)^{\frac{k}{d-2}} \alpha^{(\mathfrak{n},k)}(d) , \qquad (6.6)$$

and, in the same way, we can define $\beta_0^{(n)}$ and $\beta_1^{(n)}$. Thus, the only contribution to the non-minimal coupling action that will renormalise the metric and the potential is

$$\delta^{(1)}S^{ct} = (G_N m)^{\frac{2}{d-2}} \alpha^{(1)}(d) \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{-g} R D_\mu \phi D^\mu \phi \,.$$
(6.7)

In the following, we compute the Feynman rules associated with the counter-terms only in the case n = 1, but for the sake of completeness we give the complete relations considering



Figure 14. Insertion of non-minimal coupling at tree level.

also the term proportional to $\beta_1^{(1)}$. Then one gets [18]

$$\mu \nu = \left(\tau_{\phi^2 h}^{ct}\right)_{\mu\nu}(q)$$

$$= (G_N m)^{\frac{2}{d-2}} i\kappa \left(\alpha^{(1)}(d) \left(-q_\mu q_\nu + \eta_{\mu\nu} q^2\right) p_1 \cdot p_2 + \beta_1^{(1)}(d) \frac{q^2}{2} p_{1\,\mu} p_{2\,\nu}\right)$$
(6.8)

whose classical limit is

$$\left(\tau_{\phi^2 h}^{ct}\right)_{\mu\nu}(q) \simeq -(G_N m)^{\frac{2}{d-2}} i\kappa m^2 \left(\alpha^{(1)}(d) \left(q_\mu q_\nu + \eta_{\mu\nu} \vec{q}^2\right) + \beta_1^{(1)}(d) \frac{\vec{q}^2}{2} \delta_\mu^0 \delta_\nu^0\right).$$
(6.9)

Another possible vertex is constituted by two photons and one graviton. It arises since we must take into account the electromagnetic gauge symmetry into the covariant derivative. Its contribution is

However, we find that the 1-loop insertion of this vertex is vanishing in the classical limit, both with an external photon and an external graviton, and it will be no longer considered in this paper. Now, we can use the counter-term in (6.9) to compute the diagrams that will be necessary to the renormalisation process.

Following [18], the insertion of the non minimal coupling at tree level gives the process in figure 14. The associated contribution to the stress-energy tensor is given by

$$\frac{-i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_1E_2}\,\delta^{(1)}T^{(0)}_{\mu\nu}(q^2) = \left(\tau^{ct}_{\phi^2h}\right)_{\mu\nu}(q)\,. \tag{6.11}$$



Figure 15. Insertion of non-minimal coupling at 1-loop with an external graviton.

Considering the relation between the stress-energy tensor and the metric perturbation, as in [18], we obtain the contributions to the metric components

$$\delta^{(1)}h_0^{(1)}(r) = 0$$

$$\delta^{(1)}h_1^{(1)}(r) = \frac{16\alpha^{(1)}(d)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}}}\frac{(G_N m)^{\frac{d}{d-2}}}{r^d}$$

$$\delta^{(1)}h_2^{(1)}(r) = \frac{-32\alpha^{(1)}(d)\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{d-2}{2}}}\frac{(G_N m)^{\frac{d}{d-2}}}{r^d},$$
(6.12)

where $\alpha^{(1)}(d)$ is defined in (6.6). Then, we can consider the insertion in the 1-loop diagram as in figure 15. The corresponding contribution to the stress-energy tensor is

$$-\frac{i\kappa}{2}\sqrt{4E_{1}E_{2}}\,\delta^{(1)}T^{(1)}_{\mu\nu}(q^{2}) = 2\times\int\frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}}\frac{-iP_{\rho\sigma,\alpha\beta}P_{\eta\xi,\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}\right)_{\rho\sigma}\left(\tau^{ct}_{\phi^{2}h}\right)_{\eta\xi}\left(q-\ell\right)\left(\tau_{h^{2}h}\right)^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}(l,q)}{((p_{1}-\ell)-m^{2}+i\epsilon)(\ell^{2}+i\epsilon)((q-\ell)^{2}+i\epsilon)}$$
(6.13)

from which using the property in (B.13), we determine the contributions to the metric [18]

$$\delta^{(1)}h_0^{(2)}(r) = 64\alpha^{(1)}(d)\frac{(d-2)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}{(d-1)\pi^{d-2}}\left(\frac{(G_Nm)^{\frac{1}{d-2}}}{r}\right)^{2(d-1)}$$
(6.14)

$$\delta^{(1)}h_1^{(2)}(r) = -64\alpha^{(1)}(d)\frac{(d-2)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}{(d-1)\pi^{d-2}}\left(\frac{(G_Nm)^{\frac{1}{d-2}}}{r}\right)^{2(d-1)}$$
(6.15)

$$\delta^{(1)}h_2^{(2)}(r) = 128\alpha^{(1)}(d)\frac{(d-2)\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}{(d-1)\pi^{d-2}}\left(\frac{(G_Nm)^{\frac{1}{d-2}}}{r}\right)^{2(d-1)}.$$
(6.16)

In addition to the previous diagrams, we compute the insertion in the 1-loop diagram with an external photon, as in figure 16, since it will be necessary in order to renormalise the electromagnetic potential. The contribution to the electromagnetic current is

$$-i\sqrt{4E_1E_2}\,\delta^{(1)}j_{\nu}^{(1)}(q^2) = 2 \times \int \frac{d^{d+1}\ell}{(2\pi)^{d+1}} \frac{iP_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}\left(\tau_{\phi^2A}\right)^{\mu}\left(\tau_{\phi^2A}^{ct}\right)^{\gamma\delta}(q-\ell)\left(\tau_{A^2h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}{}_{\mu\nu}(\ell,q)}{((p_1-\ell)^2 - m^2 + i\epsilon)(\ell^2 + i\epsilon)((q-\ell)^2 + i\epsilon)}.$$
(6.17)



Figure 16. Insertion of non-minimal coupling at 1-loop with an external photon.

Considering the classical limit we get

$$-i\,2m\,\delta^{(1)}j_0^{(1)}(\vec{q}^2) = -iQ\int \frac{d^d\ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{P_{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}\left(\tau^{ct}_{\phi^2h}\right)^{\mu\nu}\left(q-\ell\right)\left(\tau_{A^2h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}{}_{00}(\ell,q)\big|_{\ell^0=0}}{\vec{\ell}^2(\vec{q}-\vec{\ell})^2}\,,\quad(6.18)$$

from which computing

$$P_{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}\left(\tau_{\phi^{2}h}^{ct}\right)^{\mu\nu}\left(q-\ell\right)\left(\tau_{A^{2}h}\right)^{\alpha\beta}{}_{00}(\ell,q)\big|_{\ell^{0}=0} = -\frac{\kappa^{2}}{2(d-1)}(G_{N}m)^{\frac{2}{d-2}}\left(\beta^{(1)}(d)(d-2)(\vec{\ell}^{2}\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}-2\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}+\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}\vec{q}^{2})\right)$$

$$-2\alpha^{(1)}(d)m^{2}\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}(\vec{q}^{2}+\vec{\ell}^{2})-2\alpha^{(1)}(d)(d-3)m^{2}\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}\vec{\ell}\cdot\vec{q}\right),$$
(6.19)

and exploiting eqs. (C.3) and (C.4), one finally obtains the contribution to the electromagnetic current

$$\delta^{(1)}j_0^{(1)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{1}{4}Q\kappa^2 m\alpha^{(1)}(d)(G_N m)^{\frac{2}{d-2}}\vec{q}^2 J_{(1)}(\vec{q}^2).$$
(6.20)

Then using eq. (B.13), we obtain the contribution to the electromagnetic potential

$$\delta^{(1)}A_0^{(2)}(r) = -4G_N m (G_N m)^{\frac{2}{d-2}} Q \alpha^{(1)}(d) \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}{\pi^{d-1} r^{2(d-1)}}.$$
(6.21)

6.2 Renormalisation

Renormalisation in d = 3. In four dimensions, the only values of k that respect the constraints described in the previous section are k = 0, 1, 2. However, the case k = 2 does not have a match in the post-Minkowskian expansion and will not be considered. As a consequence, eq. (6.6) becomes

$$\alpha^{(1)}(3) = \alpha^{(1,0)}(3) + \frac{\alpha G_N}{(G_N m)^2} \alpha^{(1,1)}(3) \,. \tag{6.22}$$

In order to cure the divergences, $\alpha^{(1)}(3)$ must have the form

$$\alpha^{(1)}(3) = \frac{\omega(3)}{d-3} + \Omega(3), \qquad (6.23)$$

where $\omega(3)$ is the coefficient that we need to fix in order to renormalise the metric, while $\Omega(3)$ is a finite term. In d = 3, the 2-loop corrections to the metric are given by the

diagram in figure 14 and, expanding the metric contributions (6.12) in $d = 3 + \epsilon$, we find the renormalised metric component

$$h_{1}^{(d=3)}|_{2\text{-loop}}^{\text{renorm}} = h_{1}^{(d=3)}|_{2\text{-loop}} + \delta^{(1)}h_{1}^{(1)}$$

$$= \frac{8G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{\epsilon r^{3}} \left(\omega(3) - \frac{1}{12} + \frac{\alpha}{6G_{N}m^{2}}\right) - \frac{4G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{3r^{3}} + \frac{8G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{r^{3}}\omega(3) + \frac{8G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{r^{3}}\Omega(3)$$

$$+ \frac{2G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{r^{3}} \log\left(2C_{E}r\right) - \frac{4\alpha G_{N}^{2}m}{r^{3}} \log\left(2C_{E}r\right) - \frac{8G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{r^{3}}\omega(3) \log\left(2C_{E}rG_{N}^{2}m^{2}\right).$$

$$(6.24)$$

We can fix the $\omega(3)$ in order to cancel the divergent term in the metric component above. Imposing this condition we obtain for the divergent contribution

$$\omega(3) = \frac{1}{12} - \frac{\alpha G_N}{6(G_N m)^2}.$$
(6.25)

For the term independent of α we recognise the coupling already found in [18], while the other is the new piece due to electromagnetic interaction. With this choice the metric components become

$$h_{1}^{(d=3)}\Big|_{2\text{-loop}}^{\text{renorm}} = \frac{2G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{3r^{3}} \left(2\log\left(\frac{2C_{E}r}{G_{N}m}\right) + 12\,\Omega(3) - 1\right) \\ - \frac{4G_{N}^{2}m\alpha}{3r^{3}} \left(1 + 2\log\left(\frac{2C_{E}r}{G_{N}m}\right)\right).$$
(6.26)

Now it is straightforward to see that this expression matches the metric in (2.23) up to finite terms. In fact, although we cannot fix the finite part $\Omega(3)$, since it belongs to the high energy regime, we can keep trace of it, and imposing a strict agreement between the renormalised metric and the one computed classically, the condition

$$\Omega(3) = 2\,\omega(3)\log\left(\frac{c}{4C_E}\right) - \omega(3) + \frac{2}{3}\tag{6.27}$$

must hold, which relates the freedom in the quantum computation with the gauge freedom in the classical one.

Renormalisation in d = 4. Referring to (6.5), in five dimensions the only allowed values of k are k = 0, 2. Then the expression in (6.6) reads

$$\alpha^{(1)}(4) = \alpha^{(1,0)}(4) + \frac{\alpha G_N}{(G_N m)^2} \alpha^{(1,2)}(4) \,. \tag{6.28}$$

As we already did in the previous case, in order to cancel the divergences we write

$$\alpha^{(1)}(d) = \frac{\omega(4)}{d-4} + \Omega(4), \qquad (6.29)$$

where $\omega(4)$ is the coefficient we need to fix in order to renormalise the divergences in d = 4and $\Omega(4)$ is a finite contribution. In $d = 4 + \epsilon$ the metric is renormalised at one loop adding the contribution of the diagram in figure 14. Then we can set the constant $\omega(4)$ in order to vanish the divergence of the metric. The value obtained is

$$\omega(4) = \frac{5}{18\pi} + \frac{G_N \alpha}{(G_N m)^2} \frac{1}{24\pi}, \qquad (6.30)$$

and again we can match the purely gravitational result with [18]. As done for d = 3 we can obtain a perfect match with the classical expression (2.23) fixing the finite contribution $\Omega(4)$, finding

$$\Omega(4) = \frac{\omega(4)}{2} \log\left(\frac{3\pi c}{8C_E^2}\right) + \frac{\omega(4)}{6} - \frac{4}{27\pi}.$$
(6.31)

Finally the renormalised metric component with this choice of coupling constants is

$$h_{1}^{(d=4)}|_{1-loop}^{\text{renorm}} = h_{1}^{(d=4)}|_{1-loop} + \delta^{(1)}h_{1}^{(1)} = \frac{56G_{N}^{2}m^{2}}{27\pi^{2}r^{4}} - \frac{\alpha G_{N}}{9\pi^{2}r^{4}} + \frac{16G_{N}^{2}m^{2}}{\pi r^{4}}\Omega(4) + \frac{20G_{N}^{2}m^{2}}{9\pi^{2}r^{4}}\log\left(\frac{C_{E}^{2}r^{2}}{G_{N}m}\right) + \frac{\alpha G_{N}}{3\pi^{2}r^{4}}\log\left(\frac{C_{E}^{2}r^{2}}{G_{N}m}\right).$$

$$(6.32)$$

For the 2-loop computation the steps are the same of the case above but using the 1-loop diagram in figure 15. The computations are independent from the previous case and lead to the same constants $\omega(4)$ and $\Omega(4)$ defined above. At this order the renormalised metric component is found to be

$$h_{1}^{(d=4)}|_{2\text{-loop}}^{\text{renorm}} = h_{1}^{(d=4)}|_{2\text{-loop}} + \delta^{(1)}h_{1}^{(2)} = -\frac{112G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{81\pi^{3}r^{6}} + \frac{16\alpha G_{N}^{2}m}{9\pi^{3}r^{6}} - \frac{64G_{N}^{3}m^{3}\Omega(4)}{3\pi^{2}r^{6}} - \frac{80G_{N}^{3}m^{3}}{27\pi^{3}r^{6}}\log\left(\frac{C_{E}^{2}r^{2}}{G_{N}m}\right) - \frac{4\alpha G_{N}^{2}m}{9\pi^{3}r^{6}}\log\left(\frac{C_{E}^{2}r^{2}}{G_{N}m}\right).$$
(6.33)

Then the exact same considerations lead to the computation of the renormalised electromagnetic potential, whose considering (6.21), the 2-loop renormalised contribution is

$$A_{0}^{(d=4)}|_{2\text{-loop}}^{\text{renorm}} = A_{0}^{(d=4)}|_{2\text{-loop}} + \delta^{(1)}A_{0}^{(2)} = \frac{Q}{4\pi} \left(-\frac{8}{27} \frac{(G_{N}m)^{2}}{\pi^{3}r^{6}} + \frac{1}{9} \frac{G_{N}\alpha}{\pi^{3}r^{6}} + \frac{16(G_{N}m)^{2}}{\pi^{2}r^{6}} \Omega(4) + \frac{20}{9} \frac{(G_{N}m)^{2}}{\pi^{3}r^{6}} \log\left(\frac{G_{N}m}{C_{E}^{2}r^{2}}\right) + \frac{1}{3} \frac{G_{N}\alpha}{\pi^{3}r^{6}} \log\left(\frac{G_{N}m}{C_{E}^{2}r^{2}}\right) \right), \quad (6.34)$$

in which the very same counter term in (6.30) is used in order to cancel the divergences. Finally using the relation (6.31) the renormalised electromagnetic potential perfectly match the classical calculation in section 2.

7 Discussion

In this paper we have shown that the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution, describing the metric and the potential generated by a static and spherically symmetric object of charge Q and mass m in any dimension, can be derived from scattering amplitudes describing the emission of either a graviton or a photon from a scalar field with the same charge and mass. Our analysis was carried out up to third post-Minkowskian order, that is up to 2 loops. This generalises to the case of charged scalars the work of [20] and [18], where the chargeless case was considered at one loop and up to three loops respectively. All these works extend the original results of [15] and [9], where amplitude computations were applied to derive the metric of all black hole solutions in four dimensions up to second post-Minkowskian order.

We have used the techniques outlined in [12] to extract the classical contributions from the scattering amplitudes. Considering the mass of the scalar to be much larger than the transferred momentum and the loop momenta, one can integrate over the time-like components of the latter in such a way that the propagator of the massive internal scalar drops out of the integral. This projects the quantum scattering amplitude on a tree graph similar to the one considered in earlier work [16].

The amplitude computations in this paper are performed in de Donder gauge. In extracting the metric and the potential from the amplitudes, one finds that in this gauge they both develop singularities. In particular, both the metric and the potential are singular at two loops in five dimensions, and the metric is also singular at one loop in five dimensions and at two loops in four dimensions [18, 20]. In order to cure such divergences, one adds counter-terms from non-minimal couplings. In [18] it was shown that a specific higher-derivative coupling, namely the one given in eq. (6.7), generates all the counter-terms that are needed to cancel all the divergences coming from graviton loops up to fourth post-Minkowsian order. We show that by simply adding to the coefficient in front of this term a contribution proportional to the square of the charge, one cancels all the divergences arising from amplitudes in which both photons and gravitons run in loops up to third post-Minkowskian order.

After the renormalisation procedure, logarithmic terms are produced both in the metric and the potential. These terms exactly match the logarithms that one generates performing a post-Minkowskian expansion of the Reissner-Nordström-Tangherlini solution in de Donder gauge, implying that their occurrence is purely an artifact of the gauge choice. In particular, one can perform the same expansion in a gauge in which such terms do not occur, and in [20] it was indeed shown that extracting the metric from scattering amplitudes in this gauge there are no divergences at one loop in five dimensions. In the context of the world-line formalism, these higher-derivative couplings had already been introduced in [21], and shown not to contribute to any physical observable. The equivalence between the scattering amplitude and world-line approaches was shown in [22].

There are various ways in which this work can be extended. As mentioned in section 6, the vertex in eq. (6.10) does not contribute to the renormalisation process up to 2 loops, and extending our analysis at higher loops would reveal whether this property is general or it is an artifact of the order of the computation. It would also be interesting to perform these higher loop computations in different gauges, generalising the 1-loop analysis of [20]. In particular, we expect that in the gauge in which no divergences arise, the non-minimal coupling in eq. (6.7) does not contribute to the classical limit. Finally, one could extend the analysis to the emission of gravitons and photons from fermionic matter, extending the four-dimensional 1 loop analysis of [9, 15], in order to explore the richer structure of black hole solutions in higher dimensions [23].

The techniques to extract classical contributions from quantum processes have been widely applied in the last few years to determine the dynamics of massive objects from two-body scattering amplitudes [14, 22, 24–34], and they have also been extended to higherdimensions [19, 35] (for a review see [36]). This research program can be applied to make high-precision computations for the post-Minkowskian dynamics of binary bound systems, which could lead to predictions in the context of gravitational-wave emission [37].

Acknowledgments

SD would like to thank S. Mougiakakos for discussions at various stages of this project. The work of FR is partially supported by the MIUR PRIN Grant 2020KR4KN2 "String Theory as a bridge between Gauge Theories and Quantum Gravity".

A Feynman rules

In this section we list all the Feynman rules used in the paper. We also write down explicitly some of the expressions for the contraction of the 3-graviton vertex with two propagators.

• Scalar propagator of mass *m*:

• Photon propagator in the Feynman gauge:

$$\mu \sim \frac{q}{\nu} = -\frac{i\eta^{\mu\nu}}{q^2 + i\epsilon}. \tag{A.2}$$

• Graviton propagator in de Donder gauge:

$$\alpha\beta \overset{q}{\simeq} \mu\nu = i\frac{P_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}}{q^2 + i\epsilon}, \qquad (A.3)$$

with $P_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}$ defined by

$$P_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta_{\mu\alpha}\eta_{\nu\beta} + \eta_{\mu\beta}\eta_{\nu\alpha} - \frac{2}{d-1}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\alpha\beta} \right) \,. \tag{A.4}$$

• 2 scalars — 1 photon vertex:

$$\sum_{p}^{p'} \mu = (\tau_{\phi^2 A})^{\mu} (p, p') = -iQ (p + p')^{\mu} .$$
 (A.5)

• 2 scalars — 1 graviton vertex [38]:

$$\sum_{p}^{p'} \mu \nu = (\tau_{\phi^2 h})^{\mu \nu} (p, p', m) = -\frac{i\kappa}{2} ((p^{\mu} p'^{\nu} + p^{\nu} p'^{\mu}) - \eta^{\mu \nu} (p \cdot p' - m^2)).$$
(A.6)

• 2 photons — 1 graviton vertex [38]:

$$\overset{\beta}{\sim} \overset{p'}{\rightarrow} \overset{q}{\rightarrow} \mu\nu = (\tau_{A^{2}h})^{\mu\nu,\alpha,\beta} (p,p')$$

$$= i\kappa \left(P^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}_{(4)}(p \cdot p') + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} (p^{\alpha}p'^{\beta} + p^{\beta}p'^{\alpha}) + \eta^{\alpha\beta} (p^{\mu}p'^{\nu} + p^{\nu}p'^{\mu}) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta^{\beta\nu} (p^{\mu}p'^{\alpha} + p^{\alpha}p'^{\mu}) + \eta^{\alpha\nu} (p^{\mu}p'^{\beta} + p^{\beta}p'^{\mu}) + \eta^{\alpha\mu} (p^{\nu}p'^{\beta} + p^{\beta}p'^{\nu}) + \eta^{\beta\mu} (p^{\nu}p'^{\alpha} + p^{\alpha}p'^{\nu}) \right) \right) ,$$

$$(A.7)$$

where $P_{(4)}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta}$ is (A.4) in four space-time dimensions, i.e. for d = 3.

• 2 photons — 2 graviton vertex [38]:

$$\begin{split} \beta & \downarrow p' & \downarrow p' \\ \alpha & = (\tau_{A^{2}h^{2}})_{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma,\alpha,\beta}(p,p') \\ = -\frac{i\kappa^{2}}{4} \left(\left(p_{\beta}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\beta}p \cdot p' \right) \left(\eta_{\mu\rho}\eta_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\nu\rho} - \eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\rho\sigma} \right) + \eta_{\mu\rho} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta} \left(p_{\nu}p'_{\sigma} + p_{\sigma}p'_{\nu} \right) \right) \\ -\eta_{\alpha\nu}p_{\beta}p'_{\sigma} - \eta_{\beta\nu}p_{\sigma}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\beta\sigma}p_{\nu}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\sigma}p_{\beta}p'_{\nu} + p \cdot p' \left(\eta_{\alpha\nu}\eta_{\beta\sigma} + \eta_{\alpha\sigma}\eta_{\beta\nu} \right) \right) \\ + \eta_{\mu\sigma} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta} \left(p_{\nu}p'_{\rho} + p_{\rho}p'_{\nu} \right) - \eta_{\alpha\nu}p_{\beta}p'_{\rho} - \eta_{\beta\nu}p_{\rho}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\beta\rho}p_{\nu}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\rho}p_{\beta}p'_{\nu} \\ + p \cdot p' \left(\eta_{\alpha\nu}\eta_{\beta\rho} + \eta_{\alpha\rho}\eta_{\beta\nu} \right) \right) + \eta_{\nu\rho} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta} \left(p_{\mu}p'_{\sigma} + p_{\sigma}p'_{\mu} \right) - \eta_{\alpha\mu}p_{\beta}p'_{\sigma} - \eta_{\beta\mu}p_{\sigma}p'_{\alpha} \\ - \eta_{\beta\sigma}p_{\mu}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\sigma}p_{\beta}p'_{\mu} + p \cdot p' \left(\eta_{\alpha\mu}\eta_{\beta\sigma} + \eta_{\alpha\sigma}\eta_{\beta\mu} \right) \right) + \eta_{\nu\sigma} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta} \left(p_{\mu}p'_{\rho} + p_{\rho}p'_{\mu} \right) \\ - \eta_{\mu\nu} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta} \left(p_{\rho}p'_{\sigma} + p_{\sigma}p'_{\rho} \right) - \eta_{\alpha\rho}p_{\beta}p'_{\sigma} - \eta_{\beta\rho}p_{\sigma}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\beta\sigma}p_{\rho}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\sigma}p_{\beta}p'_{\rho} \\ + p \cdot p' \left(\eta_{\alpha\rho}\eta_{\beta\sigma} + \eta_{\beta\rho}\eta_{\alpha\sigma} \right) \right) - \eta_{\rho\sigma} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta} \left(p_{\mu}p'_{\nu} + p_{\nu}p'_{\mu} \right) - \eta_{\alpha\mu}p_{\beta}p'_{\nu} - \eta_{\beta\mu}p_{\nu}p'_{\alpha} \\ - \eta_{\beta\nu}p_{\mu}p'_{\alpha} - \eta_{\alpha\nu}p_{\beta}p'_{\mu} + p \cdot p' \left(\eta_{\alpha\mu}\eta_{\beta\nu} + \eta_{\beta\mu}\eta_{\alpha\nu} \right) \right) \\ + \left(\eta_{\alpha\rho}p_{\mu} - \eta_{\alpha\mu}p_{\rho} \right) \left(\eta_{\beta\sigma}p'_{\nu} - \eta_{\beta\nu}p'_{\sigma} \right) + \left(\eta_{\alpha\rho}p_{\nu} - \eta_{\alpha\mu}p_{\rho} \right) \left(\eta_{\beta\sigma}p'_{\nu} - \eta_{\beta\nu}p'_{\sigma} \right) + \left(\eta_{\alpha\rho}p_{\nu} - \eta_{\alpha\mu}p_{\rho} \right) \left(\eta_{\beta\sigma}p'_{\nu} - \eta_{\beta\nu}p'_{\sigma} \right) \right) . \end{split}$$

$$\tag{A.8}$$

• 3 graviton vertex [3, 39]:

Here "Sym" indicates that a symmetrisation has to be performed on each index pair, while "P" indicates that a summation has to be performed on all the distinct permutations of the momentum-index triplets (the subscript gives the number of terms).⁶

• Expanding the Einstein-Hilbert action around a background field, one can derive the vertex for 2 internal and 1 external gravitons [7]:

⁶For example:

 $\operatorname{Sym}\left[P_3\left(p_1^{\mu_2}p_2^{\mu_1}\eta^{\nu_2\mu_3}\eta^{\nu_3\nu_1}\right)\right] = p_1^{\mu_2}p_2^{\mu_1}\eta^{\nu_2\mu_3}\eta^{\nu_3\nu_1} + p_1^{\mu_3}p_3^{\mu_1}\eta^{\nu_3\mu_2}\eta^{\nu_2\nu_1} + p_2^{\mu_3}p_3^{\mu_2}\eta^{\nu_3\mu_1}\eta^{\nu_1\nu_2} \,.$

$$+ q^{2} \left(I_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma\mu}I_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\nu} + I_{\alpha\beta,\sigma}{}^{\nu}I_{\alpha\delta}{}^{\sigma\mu} \right) + \eta^{\mu\nu}q^{\lambda}q_{\sigma} \left(I_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\rho\sigma}I_{\alpha\beta,\lambda\rho} + I_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\rho\sigma}I_{\gamma\delta,\lambda\rho} \right) + \left(l^{2} + (l-q)^{2} \right) \left(I_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma\mu}I_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\nu} + I^{\sigma\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta}I_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}P^{(4)}_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta} \right) - l^{2}\eta_{\gamma\delta}I_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\mu\nu} - (l-q)^{2}\eta_{\alpha\beta}I_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\mu\nu} \right),$$
(A.10)

where we have introduced the tensor $I_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(\eta_{\mu\alpha}\eta_{\nu\beta} + \eta_{\mu\beta}\eta_{\nu\alpha})$. The $\mu\nu$ graviton line corresponds to the external graviton, and the vertex is symmetric under exchange of the two internal lines.

It is useful to derive an analytical expression of the vertex in eq. (A.10) contracted with two graviton propagators, which can be then used directly to compute the amplitudes in which such vertex occurs. Defining

$$(\tilde{\tau}_{h^{2}h})^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta} \equiv P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\rho\sigma}P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\eta\xi} (\tau_{h^{2}h})^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho\sigma,\eta\xi}$$
(A.11)

and using the proprieties

$$P_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}P_{(4)}^{\gamma\delta,\mu\nu} = I^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta} \qquad \eta^{\alpha\beta}P_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{d-1}\eta_{\mu\nu} P_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}I^{\gamma\delta}{}_{\mu\nu} = P_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu} \qquad P_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}P_{\rho\sigma,\mu\nu}P_{(4)}^{\gamma\delta,\rho\sigma} = P_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu} ,$$
(A.12)

we obtain

$$\begin{split} (\tilde{\tau}_{h^{2}h})^{\mu\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta}(l,q) &= \frac{i\kappa}{2} \left(P_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta} \left(l^{\mu}l^{\nu} + (l-q)^{\mu}(l-q)^{\nu} + q^{\mu}q^{\nu} - \frac{3}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}q^{2} \right) \\ &+ 2q_{\lambda}q_{\sigma} \left(P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\lambda\sigma}P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\mu\nu} + P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\lambda\sigma}P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\mu\nu} - P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\lambda\mu}P^{\sigma\nu}{}_{\gamma\delta} - P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma\nu}P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\lambda\nu} \right) \\ &- \frac{2}{d-1}q_{\lambda}q^{\mu} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta}P^{\lambda\nu}{}_{\gamma\delta} + \eta_{\gamma\delta}P^{\lambda\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta} \right) - \frac{2}{d-1}q_{\lambda}q^{\nu} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\lambda\mu} + \eta_{\gamma\delta}P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\lambda\mu} \right) \\ &+ \frac{2}{d-1}q^{2} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\mu\nu} + \eta_{\gamma\delta}P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\mu\nu} \right) + \frac{2}{d-1}\eta^{\mu\nu}q^{\lambda}q^{\sigma} \left(\eta_{\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta,\lambda\sigma} + \eta_{\gamma\delta}P_{\alpha\beta,\lambda\sigma} \right) \\ &+ 2q^{\lambda} \left(P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma\lambda}P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\nu}(l-q)^{\mu} + P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\lambda\sigma}P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\mu}(l-q)^{\nu} - P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\lambda\sigma}P_{\alpha\beta,\sigma}{}^{\nu}l^{\mu} - P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\lambda\sigma}P_{\alpha\beta,\sigma}{}^{\mu}l^{\nu} \right) \\ &+ q^{2} \left(P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma\mu}P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\nu} + P_{\alpha\beta,\sigma}{}^{\nu}P_{\alpha\delta}{}^{\sigma\mu} \right) + \eta^{\mu\nu}q^{\lambda}q_{\sigma} \left(P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\rho\sigma}P_{\alpha\beta,\lambda\rho} + P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\rho\sigma}P_{\gamma\delta,\lambda\rho} \right) \\ &+ \left(l^{2} + (l-q)^{2} \right) \left(P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma\mu}P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\nu} + P^{\sigma\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta,\sigma}{}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}P_{\alpha\beta,\gamma\delta} \right) \\ &+ \frac{2}{d-1} \left(l^{2}\eta_{\gamma\delta}P_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\mu\nu} + (l-q)^{2}\eta_{\alpha\beta}P_{\gamma\delta}{}^{\mu\nu} \right) \right). \end{split}$$
(A.13)

For instance, to compute the 1-loop amplitude in figure 2 one needs $(\tilde{\tau}_{h^2h})^{\mu\nu}_{00,00}$, and from eq. (A.13) one gets [18]

$$(\tilde{\tau}_{h^{2}h})^{\mu\nu}{}_{00,00}(l,q) = \frac{i\kappa}{2} \frac{1}{d-1} \left((d-2) \left(l^{\mu}l^{\nu} + (l-q)^{\mu}(l-q)^{\nu} + q^{\mu}q^{\nu} + \frac{3}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}\vec{q}^{2} \right) - 2(d-2) \left(\vec{l}^{2} + \left(\vec{l} + \vec{q} \right)^{2} \right) \left(\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{4}\eta^{\mu\nu} \right) - 2(d-3)\vec{q}^{2}\delta_{0}^{\mu}\delta_{0}^{\mu} \right).$$
(A.14)

B Master integrals

We derive here all the identities needed for the evaluation of (3.15) and (3.24). These computations involve the Fourier transform with respect to the transferred momentum \vec{q} of the master integral $J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)$. The relevant integrals are

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)}{\vec{q}^2} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}}$$
(B.1)

and

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{q_i q_j}{\vec{q}^2} \frac{J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)}{\vec{q}^2} e^{i \vec{q} \cdot \vec{x}} \,. \tag{B.2}$$

The sunset master integral with l-loop has been defined in (3.13) and it can be rewritten as ([18], eq. (2.31))

$$J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2) = \frac{\Gamma\left(l+1-\frac{ld}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)^{l+1}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{ld}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{(l+1)(d-2)}{2}\right)} (\vec{q}^2)^{\frac{l(d-2)}{2}},$$
(B.3)

and substituting it inside (B.1) we have

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)}{\vec{q}^2} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}} = \frac{\Gamma\left(l+1-\frac{ld}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)^{l+1}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{ld}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{(l+1)(d-2)}{2}\right)} \int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} |\vec{q}|^{l(d-2)-2} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}} \,. \tag{B.4}$$

To solve (B.1) we can compute the inverse Fourier transform F(r) for a generic spherically symmetric function f(q), defined as

$$F(r) \equiv \int \frac{d^d q}{(2\pi)^d} f(q) e^{i\vec{x}\cdot\vec{q}}.$$
 (B.5)

Rewriting both \vec{q} and \vec{x} in hyper-spherical coordinates, we can decompose the *d*-dimensional plane wave in Bessel functions $J_{\nu}(qr)$ [40], and assuming spherical symmetry one gets

$$F(r) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{d}{2}} r^{1-\frac{d}{2}} \int_0^\infty q dq \ q^{\frac{d}{2}-1} f(q) J_{\frac{d}{2}-1}(qr) \,. \tag{B.6}$$

Using the definition of the ν -th order inverse Hankel transform of a generic function g(q)(defined for q > 0)

$$\mathscr{H}_{\nu}\{g(q)\} \equiv \int_0^\infty q dq \ g(q) J_{\nu}(qr) \,, \tag{B.7}$$

eq. (B.6) becomes

$$F(r) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{d}{2}} r^{1-\frac{d}{2}} \mathscr{H}_{\frac{d}{2}-1}\{q^{\frac{d}{2}-1}f(q)\},$$
(B.8)

which relates a generic spherically symmetric function F(r) with his Fourier transform f(q). The $(\frac{d}{2}-1)$ -th order inverse Hankel transform of a generic power α of the momentum is

$$\mathscr{H}_{\frac{d}{2}-1}\{q^{\alpha}\} = \frac{2^{\alpha+1}}{r^{\alpha+2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2\alpha+2}{4}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2\alpha-2}{4}\right)},\tag{B.9}$$

obtained inverting Item (2) of the table 9.2 of [41]. In our case $f(q) = q^{l(d-2)-2}$ as can be seen from (B.4) and therefore $\alpha = \frac{d}{2} + l(d-2) - 3$. From (B.9) and (B.8) we find

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)}{\vec{q}^2} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}} = \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)}{4\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}} \frac{1}{r^{d-2}}\right)^{l+1} = \left(\frac{\rho}{4\pi}\right)^{l+1} . \tag{B.10}$$

Analogously, in order to solve (B.2) we make the same computation for $\alpha = \frac{d}{2} + l(d-2) - 5$, obtaining the identity

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)}{\vec{q}^4} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}} = \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)}{4\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}\right)^{l+1} \frac{r^{d-4+l(d-2)}}{(2-l(d-2))(d-4+l(d-2))}.$$
(B.11)

Applying the operator $\partial_i \partial_j$ on both sides we finally obtain

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{q_i q_j}{\vec{q}^2} \frac{J_{(l)}(\vec{q}^2)}{\vec{q}^2} e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}} = \frac{1}{2 - l(d-2)} \left(\delta_{ij} + (l+1)(2-d)\frac{x_i x_j}{r}\right) \left(\frac{\rho}{4\pi}\right)^{l+1}.$$
 (B.12)

In both the identities (B.10) and (B.12) the relation between the post-Minkowskian and the loop expansions is explicit.

From the analysis above one can also derive the identity [18]

$$\int \frac{d^d \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^d} J_{(1)}\left(\vec{q}^2\right) e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{x}} = -\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)^2}{2\pi^d r^{2(d-1)}}, \qquad (B.13)$$

which is needed for the evaluation of the momentum integrals in section 6.

C Loop integral reduction

The classical limit of both the stress-energy tensor and the electromagnetic current arise extracting from the loop integrals the contributions proportional to the master integral. In this appendix we list such contributions for all the loop integrals that occur in the amplitude computations in sections 4 and 5. For some of these relations we made use of the LiteRed package of Mathematica [42].

1-loop

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell}^2}{\vec{\ell}^2 (\vec{q} - \vec{\ell})^2} = 0, \qquad (C.1)$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell} \cdot \vec{q}}{\vec{\ell}^2 (\vec{q} - \vec{\ell})^2} = \frac{1}{2} J_{(1)}(\vec{q}^2) , \qquad (C.2)$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell} \cdot \vec{q} \, \vec{\ell}^2}{\vec{\ell}^2 (\vec{q} - \vec{\ell})^2} = 0 \,, \tag{C.3}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell} \cdot \vec{q} \, \vec{\ell} \cdot \vec{q}}{\vec{\ell}^2 (\vec{q} - \vec{\ell})^2} = \frac{1}{4} \vec{q}^2 \, J_{(1)}(\vec{q}^2) \,, \tag{C.4}$$

2-loop

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{q}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{3} J_{(2)} \left(\vec{q}^2\right) \tag{C.5}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{\ell_2}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{6} J_{(2)} \left(\vec{q}^2\right) \tag{C.6}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{q} \cdot \vec{\ell_1}^2}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = 0$$
(C.7)

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_2} \cdot \vec{q} \, \vec{\ell_1}^2}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = 0 \tag{C.8}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{\ell_2} \ \vec{q} \cdot \vec{\ell_1}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{6} J_{(2)} \left(\vec{q}^2\right) \tag{C.9}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\ell_1^2 \vec{q}^2}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = 0$$
(C.10)

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{\ell_2} \ \vec{q}^2}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = \frac{1}{2} J_{(2)} \left(\vec{q}^2\right) \tag{C.11}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{q} \cdot \vec{\ell_2} \cdot \vec{q}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = \frac{2d - 7}{6(d - 4)} J_{(2)} \left(\vec{q}^2\right) \tag{C.12}$$

$$\int \frac{d^d \ell_1}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{d^d \ell_2}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{\vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{q} \ \vec{\ell_1} \cdot \vec{q}}{\vec{\ell_1}^2 \vec{\ell_2}^2 \left(\vec{q} - \vec{\ell_1} - \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2 \left(\vec{\ell_1} + \vec{\ell_2}\right)^2} = \frac{d-3}{3(d-4)} J_{(2)} \left(\vec{q}^2\right) . \tag{C.13}$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- [1] R.P. Feynman, Quantum theory of gravitation, Acta Phys. Polon. 24 (1963) 697 [INSPIRE].
- B.S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 1. The Canonical Theory, Phys. Rev. 160 (1967) 1113 [INSPIRE].
- [3] B.S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 2. The Manifestly Covariant Theory, Phys. Rev. 162 (1967) 1195 [INSPIRE].
- [4] B.S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 3. Applications of the Covariant Theory, Phys. Rev. 162 (1967) 1239 [INSPIRE].
- [5] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, One loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation, Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Phys. Theor. A 20 (1974) 69.

- [6] J.F. Donoghue, Leading quantum correction to the Newtonian potential, Phys. Rev. Lett. 72 (1994) 2996 [gr-qc/9310024] [INSPIRE].
- J.F. Donoghue, General relativity as an effective field theory: The leading quantum corrections, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 3874 [gr-qc/9405057] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Y. Iwasaki, Quantum theory of gravitation vs. classical theory. Fourth-order potential, Prog. Theor. Phys. 46 (1971) 1587 [INSPIRE].
- N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J.F. Donoghue and B.R. Holstein, Quantum corrections to the Schwarzschild and Kerr metrics, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 084005 [Erratum ibid. 71 (2005) 069904] [hep-th/0211071] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J.F. Donoghue and T. Torma, On the power counting of loop diagrams in general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 4963 [hep-th/9602121] [INSPIRE].
- B.R. Holstein and J.F. Donoghue, Classical physics and quantum loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 (2004) 201602 [hep-th/0405239] [INSPIRE].
- [12] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, G. Festuccia, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 171601
 [arXiv:1806.04920] [INSPIRE].
- [13] D.A. Kosower, B. Maybee and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering, JHEP 02 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1811.10950] [INSPIRE].
- [14] C. Cheung, I.Z. Rothstein and M.P. Solon, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 251101 [arXiv:1808.02489]
 [INSPIRE].
- [15] J.F. Donoghue, B.R. Holstein, B. Garbrecht and T. Konstandin, Quantum corrections to the Reissner-Nordström and Kerr-Newman metrics, Phys. Lett. B 529 (2002) 132 [Erratum ibid. 612 (2005) 311] [hep-th/0112237] [INSPIRE].
- [16] M.J. Duff, Quantum Tree Graphs and the Schwarzschild Solution, Phys. Rev. D 7 (1973) 2317 [INSPIRE].
- [17] F.R. Tangherlini, Schwarzschild field in n dimensions and the dimensionality of space problem, Nuovo Cim. 27 (1963) 636 [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Mougiakakos and P. Vanhove, Schwarzschild-Tangherlini metric from scattering amplitudes in various dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 026001 [arXiv:2010.08882] [INSPIRE].
- [19] A. Koemans Collado, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo and S. Thomas, *The subleading eikonal in supergravity theories*, *JHEP* 10 (2018) 038 [arXiv:1807.04588] [INSPIRE].
- [20] G.U. Jakobsen, Schwarzschild-Tangherlini Metric from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 104065 [arXiv:2006.01734] [INSPIRE].
- [21] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, An effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104029 [hep-th/0409156] [INSPIRE].
- [22] G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Classical black hole scattering from a worldline quantum field theory, JHEP 02 (2021) 048 [arXiv:2010.02865] [INSPIRE].
- [23] R. Emparan and H.S. Reall, Black Holes in Higher Dimensions, Living Rev. Rel. 11 (2008) 6 [arXiv:0801.3471] [INSPIRE].
- [24] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 206 [arXiv:1908.01493] [INSPIRE].

- [25] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 201603 [arXiv:1901.04424] [INSPIRE].
- [26] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang and J.-W. Kim, Kerr-Newman stress-tensor from minimal coupling, JHEP 12 (2020) 103 [arXiv:1911.12775] [INSPIRE].
- [27] C. Cheung and M.P. Solon, Classical gravitational scattering at $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$ from Feynman diagrams, JHEP 06 (2020) 144 [arXiv:2003.08351] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, A. Cristofoli and P.H. Damgaard, Post-Minkowskian Scattering Angle in Einstein Gravity, JHEP 08 (2020) 038 [arXiv:1910.09366] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov and J. Vines, Scattering of Spinning Black Holes from Exponentiated Soft Factors, JHEP 09 (2019) 056 [arXiv:1812.06895] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov and J. Vines, Black-hole scattering with general spin directions from minimal-coupling amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 104024 [arXiv:1906.10071] [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Guevara, B. Maybee, A. Ochirov, D. O'connell and J. Vines, A worldsheet for Kerr, JHEP 03 (2021) 201 [arXiv:2012.11570] [INSPIRE].
- [32] Y.F. Bautista, A. Guevara, C. Kavanagh and J. Vines, From Scattering in Black Hole Backgrounds to Higher-Spin Amplitudes: Part I, arXiv:2107.10179 [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Moynihan, Kerr-Newman from Minimal Coupling, JHEP 01 (2020) 014
 [arXiv:1909.05217] [INSPIRE].
- [34] W.T. Emond, Y.-T. Huang, U. Kol, N. Moynihan and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes from Coulomb to Kerr-Taub-NUT, JHEP 05 (2022) 055 [arXiv:2010.07861] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Cristofoli, P.H. Damgaard, P. Di Vecchia and C. Heissenberg, Second-order Post-Minkowskian scattering in arbitrary dimensions, JHEP 07 (2020) 122
 [arXiv:2003.10274] [INSPIRE].
- [36] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, The SAGEX Review on Scattering Amplitudes, Chapter 13: Post-Minkowskian expansion from Scattering Amplitudes, arXiv:2203.13024 [INSPIRE].
- [37] A. Buonanno, M. Khalil, D. O'Connell, R. Roiban, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Snowmass White Paper: Gravitational Waves and Scattering Amplitudes, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, (2022) [arXiv:2204.05194] [INSPIRE].
- [38] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, B.R. Holstein, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, Graviton-Photon Scattering, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 064008 [arXiv:1410.4148] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Sannan, Gravity as the Limit of the Type II Superstring Theory, Phys. Rev. D 34 (1986) 1749 [INSPIRE].
- [40] J.E. Avery and J.S. Avery, Hyperspherical harmonics and their physical applications, World Scientific, Singapore (2017) [DOI].
- [41] A.D. Poularikas, Transforms and applications handbook. CRC Press, Boca Raton, U.S.A. (2018) [DOI].
- [42] R.N. Lee, LiteRed 1.4: a powerful tool for reduction of multiloop integrals, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 523 (2014) 012059 [arXiv:1310.1145] [INSPIRE].